

# FY 24 Budget Development Calendar



## Albemarle County

## Legislation Details (With Text)

File #:	22-40	3	Version:	1	Name:		
Туре:	Repo	rt			Status:	Action Items	
File created:	8/17/2	2022			In control:	Board of Supervisors	
On agenda:	9/7/20	)22			Final action	:	
Title:	Fiscal	l Year 202	4 Operatir	ng and	Capital Bud	get Calendar and Recommended Process	Modifications.
Sponsors:							
Indexes:							
Code sections:							
Attachments:	Att.A	- Prelimina	ary FY 24	Budge	et Calendar		
Date	Ver.	Action By				Action	Result

### AGENDA DATE: 9/7/2022

### TITLE:

Fiscal Year 2024 Operating and Capital Budget Calendar and Recommended Process Modifications

**SUBJECT/PROPOSAL/REQUEST:** Set dates related to the development of the Fiscal Year 2024 budget and consider FY 24 budget process modifications

**ITEM TYPE:** Regular Action Item

**STAFF CONTACT(S):** Richardson, Rosenberg, Birch, Sumner, Bowman, Davidson, Dimock

PRESENTER (S): Bowman

LEGAL REVIEW: Yes

### **REVIEWED BY: Jeffrey B. Richardson**

**BACKGROUND:** The process of developing the County's Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2024 (FY 24) and the Capital Improvements Program (CIP) for FY 24 - 28 is underway. Staff provides a proposed budget calendar on an annual basis and highlights any other staff recommendations regarding process modifications.

**STRATEGIC PLAN:** Mission - To enhance the well-being and quality of life for all community members through the provision of the highest level of public service consistent with the prudent use of public funds.

**DISCUSSION:** Attachment A provides a preliminary budget calendar for the FY 24 budget process. The budget development calendar establishes specific dates for Board meetings and public hearings on the tax rate, the budget, and the CIP. Staff will continue to provide the public with as much notice as possible for planned community engagement opportunities, public hearings, and work sessions associated with the development of the upcoming budgets.

There are several dates that are driven by Virginia Code requirements that are reflected in the attached calendar:

- Localities with a first-half tax year collection in June must adopt the tax rate on or before May 15.
- There must be at least seven days between the public advertisement of the budget public hearing and the actual hearing date.
- There must be at least seven days between the budget public hearing and the adoption of the budget.
- Localities must provide at least 30 days notice of the real estate tax rate public hearing if the reassessment would result in an increase of one percent or more in the total real property tax levied compared to the prior year's real property tax levies.

The preliminary budget calendar for the FY 24 budget process meets the Virginia Code requirements.

Staff is also recommending modifications to the Agency Budget Review Team (ABRT) process and the creation of a Non-Profit Community Partner Capital request process, in part based upon feedback received from the Board and the County's community partners.

ABRT Process modification may include:

- Review of non-profit partner agencies and programs to ensure alignment with appropriate review process (ABRT or County staff review process).
- Provide an expedited and simplified review process for agencies that received an exemplary rating for the last two review cycles.
- Subject to the context of the total budget process, provide a more sustainable mechanism for new and/or additional grantees to receive funding at a level appropriate for successful program administration, without relying on reduced funding levels of other currently funded programs to support entrance.

Non-Profit Community Partner Capital Request Process:

- Process will provide a mechanism of non-profit community partners to request one-time capital funding separate from any operational request or support provided by Albemarle County.
- Such community partners would include, but are not limited to, regional partners such as the volunteer fire rescue agencies, regional library, Emergency Communications Center, or community non-profits such as the Boys and Girls Club, On Our Own, Local Food Hub, or others that receive funding from the County.
- Requests would be required to have direct tie-in to the priorities identified in the Board of Supervisors strategic planning process.
- Requests would be reviewed and evaluated alongside other County departmental requests and priorities in the context of the larger Albemarle County Capital Improvement Program.

**BUDGET IMPACT:** This executive summary provides information on the FY 24 Budget development process.

### **RECOMMENDATION:**

Staff recommends that the Board adopt the preliminary budget calendar set forth in Attachment A and approve staff's recommendation for modifications to the upcoming budget development process.

### ATTACHMENTS:

A - Preliminary FY 24 Budget Calendar



## Recommended FISCAL YEAR 2024 BUDGET CALENDAR

August 2022					
24 (Wed.)	Board of Supervisors Strategic Planning Retreat				
September 202	September 2022				
7 (Wed.)	Board of Supervisors Meeting - Review of Financial Policies and FY 2024				
	Budget Calendar				
October 2022	1				
5 (Wed.)	BOS Regular Meeting - County Financial Outlook: Economic Report				
November 202	2				
2 (Wed.)	Work Session – Long-Range Financial Planning				
December 202	2				
7 (Wed.)	Work Session – Long-Range Financial Planning: Public Schools,				
	Operating and Capital				
14 (Wed.)	Work Session – Long-Range Financial Planning				
February 2023					
22 (Wed.)	County Executive's presentation to Board – Recommended Budget and				
	Capital Improvements Program				
March 2023					
01 (Wed.)	Public Hearing on County Executive's Recommended Budget and CIP				
08 (Wed.)	Work Session #1				
09 (Thur.)	Tentative - School Board adopts Public Schools budget request				
13 (Mon.)	Work Session #2 – To include School Board funding request and CIP				
15 (Wed.)	Work Session #3 – Board proposes Budget and sets maximum tax rate				
	for advertisement				
22 (Wed.)	If needed - Work Session #4				
29 (Wed.)	If needed - Work Session #5				
April 2023					
Week of 3-7	Spring Break				
12 (Wed.)	If needed - Work Session #6				
26 (Wed.)	Public Hearing on the CY 22 tax rate and Board's Proposed Budget				
May 2023					
3 (Wed.)	Board approves and appropriates FY 24 Budget and sets tax rate				
11 (Thur.)	Tentative - School Board adopts Public Schools Final budget				



# Board-to-Board Correspondence

March 11, 2022

To: County Executive Jeff Richardson, Chair Price, Vice-Chair LePisto-Kirtley, Supervisor Andrews, Supervisor Gallaway, Supervisor Mallek, Supervisor McKeel

From: Kate Acuff and Jonno Alcaro, Members of the School Board and CIP Advisory Committee (CIPAC)

Subject: The Need for a Long-Term Funding Strategy for County/Schools Capital Projects

The purpose of this letter is to bring before you the concerns that we share relating to the current CIP process for County/Schools projects. (Please note that all references to capital projects within this document include both County and Schools projects as all add to the quality of life for Albemarle County residents.)

Specifically, our purpose is to advocate that the Board of Supervisors develop a long-term, recurring and predictable revenue strategy dedicated exclusively to capital projects as soon as its FY24 budget. We fully recognize that revenues resulting from such a strategy will be subject to ups and downs in Albemarle County's economy. However, in good times and in bad times, the need for capital improvement projects does not slow down. We are still trying to dig out from the starvation of CIP during and after the Great Recession. None of us wants to go through that unfortunate exercise again.

Current and former members of CIPAC, as well as County and School officials, know all too well how many much-wanted/-needed projects have been left by the wayside in the CIP process over the last 12 years, including Police/Fire needs, parks, sidewalks, as well as the renovation, building and expansion of schools. Some items are still languishing after more than five years of being on the list. Additional monies are needed sooner than rather later to improve the services provided to all residents and their families. This concern has resulted in a full CIPAC recommendation for dedicated funding in the County budget as recently as 2019 and 2020.

There is significant community support for funding for our schools. As you may recall, in 2016, the school division, in partnership with local government, held a school bond referendum for the first time in 42 years. This referendum, which explicitly stated that a 1.3¢ tax increase would be needed, passed by an extraordinary 74% of the vote with every precinct in the County voting in favor of it. More people in Albemarle County cast a vote on the bond issue than voted that year for the office of President of the United States.

Although the bond-referendum projects were completed and addressed pressing capacity, safety, and renovation needs, those projects were not nearly enough for the Schools/County to catch up with their capital needs. For Schools, this year's CIPAC final recommendation was to fund a high school center (which was approved, then paused in 2020 due to Covid) and a single much-needed elementary school. Please note that the Long-Range Planning Advisory Committee's recommendation specified two elementary schools in addition to the land and planning for a third school were needed in the next five years due to the County's anticipated growth. It also called for the County to consider making substantial investments in school infrastructure (which include upgrading the electrical systems and other infrastructure needs of our aging school buildings) in a phased strategy, which we fully support.

CIPAC asked that these additional elementary schools and infrastructure projects "be considered with the further development of CIP revenue projections in FY 23 to 27" and requested a plan to ensure a funding floor to revenues for capital. Our message in this letter is that it is critical to make sure sufficient funds are available not only to tackle the needs of school infrastructure but other County projects as well. This requires a robust long-term funding strategy rather than waiting to see what the revenues look like in a given year.

We are in a school division where there are approximately 100 classrooms in trailers. Unlike in years past when trailers were primarily used for interventionist services or occasional classes (music for elementary students, for example), today we have many elementary school students in trailers for most/all of their school day. Spending millions on securing the front entrances of our schools and at the same time sending children out to trailers is something we must to correct with aggressive solutions. In fact, at Mountain View, for example, there isn't enough room on the property to even add more trailers.

Several members of this year's CIPAC voiced support for a long-term funding strategy which generates additional, revenues exclusively dedicated to capital projects, as a *complement* to the current strategy of looking at anticipated tax collections and then budgeting for capital. This was the Supervisors' policy prior to the Great Recession and such dedicated revenues should be added to the current strategy, not replace it.

We do not want to endanger Albemarle County's AAA debt rating which all of us are very proud of and which saves our residents so much money, but policy planning is needed for the benefit of all present and future Albemarle County residents.

Although, as noted, our primary focus is on school infrastructure, having a dedicated funding stream for County capital projects would also address many of the capital projects that will improve the quality of life for all of our residents.

We are fortunate enough to have a County Executive and a Board of Supervisors with forward-looking vision as to Albemarle County's growth and needs to support that growth. We understand that you have an enormous task of ensuring the economic vitality of the community and making prudent investments in the quality of life for the County's residents. We believe that a proactive strategy to support the infrastructure will be a positive tool to that end. We would be pleased to discuss this further if you wish to involve us.

Thank you for your consideration.



## County of Albemarle County Executive Office

Tel: 434-296-5841 Fax: 434-296-5800

то:	Dr. Matthew Haas, Superintendent, Albemarle County Schools
FROM:	Jeff Richardson, County Executive
CC:	Nelsie Birch, Chief Financial Officer Andy Bowman, Chief, Office of Management & Budget
DATE:	April 22, 2022

Subject: Response to Long-Term Funding Strategy Memo

Please allow this memorandum to serve as response to the March 11 memo from your Board specific to CIP planning. We appreciate your continued participation in the County's financial planning processes, including the CIP Advisory Committee, and your recognition of both Public Schools' and County Governments' long-term capital needs that add to the quality of life for Albemarle County residents. We also recognize the FY 23-27 CIP, which makes transformative investments in our community, including \$145.7 M for the start of three schools in the next five years, indoor air quality improvements, some renovations, and maintenance and replacement projects, is made possible in part by the School Board's direct contributions to our efforts.

We have not yet concluded the FY 23 budget process, including the adoption of a Five-Year CIP for the first time since FY 20. However, staff is already considering how to move forward in the County's next process for long-range financial planning and we are open to improvement and feedback as there is opportunity to advance our work. Those plans at this point are preliminary and require discussion with the Board of Supervisors, after other strategic work with the Board is accomplished. For your awareness, much of this work is detailed below:

- County's Comprehensive Plan AC44
  - The ongoing, multi-year community work to update the County's Comprehensive Plan, which is the guiding document for growth, development, and investment in the County. The Plan has recommendations for how and where the County should grow. The Comprehensive Plan is used to guide decisions on public infrastructure and funding, plans and programs, and review of some development applications.
  - The need for a more formal and structured coordination with the County's Community Development Department (and its long-range planning efforts) along with the Schools (and its long-range planning efforts) and then paired with the Capital Budget professionals would be a significant enhancement to our long-range planning. How this will be executed and implemented is an element for discussion as part of our Comprehensive Planning efforts and our Fall discussions.

Dr. Matthew Haas April 22, 2022 Page Two

- Strategic Plan Update
  - The Board of Supervisors will be updating its next Strategic Plan this Fall. Through a series of planning and facilitated discussions, the Board will approve this Plan that will guide the County's priorities and funding decisions and tie to the updated Comprehensive Plan. It will be the shorter term, actional plan that will help to realize the Comprehensive Plan's vision.
- Updated Financial Management Policies
  - To continue to ensure that our financial policies align with our triple-AAA and the Board's expectations of sound, financial management, we will be bringing forward recommendations for consideration to the Board of Supervisors later this year. These policies serve as the guiding document for our Department of Finance & Budget team as they develop and administer the budget and manage the County (and schools) debt and cash.
- Formalize community agency process for capital funding
  - The Board has directed County staff to prepare a CIP process for their consideration that includes a more formalized community agency request process for capital, similar to that of Agency Budget Review Team (ABRT) process for the operating budget.

Currently the CIP and debt service are supported by dedicated and ongoing revenue, totaling \$35.8 M in the FY 23 Proposed Budget, along with any additional one-time funding that either the County or the Schools can support to realize their needs. The County's Department of Finance & Budget has done considerable work during the pandemic to ensure that we can continue to support and advance the priorities of the County and the Schools while also being mindful of the underlying economic stress during this turbulent time. Much of the work on affordability was advancing a CIP that was higher than envisioned prior to the pandemic while not requiring an increase to the property tax rate. This is a commendable effort of our staff but also of the support of the Board of Supervisors.

We will continue to work with the Board of Supervisors and the School Board and School staff to remain coordinated in our efforts, strategic in our future, all while remaining prudent with our financial resources. A more refined and detailed timeline will be shared with the School Board and School staff as we head into the Fall. In the meantime, please contact me with any further questions.



Beatrice (Bea) LaPisto-Kirtley Rivanna

> Donna P. Price Scottsville

Ann H. Mallek White Hall

#### **COUNTY OF ALBEMARLE**

Office of Board of Supervisors 401 McIntire Road Charlottesville, Virginia 22902-4596 (434) 296-5843 FAX (434) 296-5800 Diantha H. McKeel Jack Jouett

Jim H. Andrews Samuel Miller

Ned L. Gallaway Rio

September 8, 2022

Graham Paige, Chair Albemarle County School Board

Chair Paige,

On behalf of the Albemarle County Board of Supervisors, I would like to invite the Albemarle County School Board to participate in a Board-to-Board work session on the afternoon of December 7, 2022, for a focused discussion on the five-year financial plans of Albemarle County Public Schools and alignment with Albemarle County's strategic priorities.

On August 24, 2022, the Board of Supervisors held an off-site Strategic Planning retreat where we discussed the five-year goals for our county. As part of our day, we discussed the goal "Support Exceptional Educational Opportunities." During this discussion, we indicated that one of our objectives is to collaborate and provide support for Albemarle County Public Schools' Strategic Plan.

As part of this effort, the Board of Supervisors is seeking additional information from the School Board that will enhance our understanding of the School Board's priorities and future planning efforts. During the December 7 Board-to-Board work session, the School Board and its staff is requested to present a balanced five-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), along with a balanced five-year financial plan that considers both operating and capital priorities. This information should include a review of significant revenue and expenditure drivers and related assumptions, the School Board's priorities to be funded with any new revenue, and how the plan aligns with the County's draft Fiscal Year 2024 - 2028 Strategic Plan. The Board requests that the School Board formally adopt these detailed plans prior to our work together. The more specificity and collaboration that we have will allow for our mutual staffs to better plan for the financial resources, financial options, development instruments, and land use options available to tackle the needs and timing of the Albemarle County Public Schools. To that end, the Board of Supervisors would like the School Board to address the following:

Graham Paige, Chair September 8, 2022 Page 2

#### 1. Capital Planning.

- a. Identify the specific type of school, location, and timing of each of the three new schools currently in the CIP – Northern Feeder Pattern Elementary School, Southern Feeder Pattern Elementary School, and Center II High School.
- b. Identify any changes from the FY 23-27 CIP.
- c. The timing and prioritization of the Lambs Lane Master Plan. Is this a priority in the next five or 10 years? How can the County better collaborate on this initiative?
- d. Continue to align the work of the Community Development Department with respect to AC44 (the Comprehensive Plan) with the development review process; to include agreeing on a methodology for the consideration of the impact of approval of future developments relative to its impact on schools' capacity and better coordination of proffered land opportunities.
- 2. **Operating Planning.** This analysis should include:
  - a. The major revenue and expenditure drivers and related assumptions.
  - b. How the related operating costs of CIP projects will be planned for within revenue projections.
  - c. The combined operating and capital priorities of the School Board to be funded with any new revenue.
  - d. How the plan aligns with the County's FY 24 28 Strategic Plan that is under development.
  - e. What policy and strategic options did the School Board consider, or plan to consider, to shape the trajectory of the Five-Year Financial Plan.
- 3. Workforce Stabilization. Identify any areas that we can better collaborate related to workforce stabilization. Specific areas of interest:
  - a. Are there ways to structure the school calendar to better align with parents and caregivers needs (as the current calendar might prevent them from entering or re-entering the workforce).
  - b. Can we create a better pipeline of workers by partnering with CATEC for our most critical and hard to fill positions? Develop apprenticeship programs or train for bus drivers, maintenance workers, building inspectors, etc.?

The discussion in December is intended to be a Board-to-Board discussion and will take place *in lieu of* the annual CIP Advisory Committee meetings.

The County Executive, Superintendent, and their teams will work closely to prepare for the Fall planning sessions. If you have any questions or concerns, please let me know immediately.

Sincerely,

Donna Price, Chair Albemarle County Board of Supervisors



# FY 24-28 Board Strategic Plan

## ALBEMARLE COUNTY, VIRGINIA STRATEGIC PLAN FY24-28

WEAVING PLANNING, ENGAGEMENT, AND ACTION TO BUILD OUR FUTURE

Adopted October 2022



WHY STRATEGIC PLANNING	2
HOW THIS PLAN WAS DEVELOPED	2
MISSION, VISION, VALUES	3
STRATEGIC GOALS: AN OVERVIEW	5
HOW WE WILL GET THERE: GOALS & OBJECTIVES	7
HOW WE WORK	9



## WHY STRATEGIC PLANNING

Strategic planning is used to set priorities and focus energy and resources to move organizations towards their vision. Albemarle County has used strategic planning for many years to inform policy development and financial decision-making and to achieve the community desires and values articulated in the County's Comprehensive Plan.

The Performance and Strategic Planning division of the County Executive office developed an aligned approach connecting the County's work on long range financial planning, comprehensive planning, to build priorities for this community. Our vision and goals will remain broad and narrow focus on objectives. This big picture thinking allows our services to remain adaptable as our community and environment changes. Specifics about how we will execute the goals and objectives will develop through the annual budget process with dedicated resources and projects aligning across the many functions and services.

## HOW THIS PLAN WAS DEVELOPED

Through the summer of 2022 the staff prepared potential goals and objectives based on our current community challenges and opportunities. In August of 2022, the Board of Supervisors provided input and direction around six draft strategic plan goals and connecting objectives. The discussions were upon current services and how we might approach challenges and opportunities differently so that the County government can improve and deliver excellent customer service. Board and community input was gathered again in September and October of 2022 and provided small changes to the draft plan.

The adopted final goals and objectives were adopted by the Board of Supervisors on October 19, 2022. Moving forward, the staff will provide clarity on projects and initiatives that align with these objectives and propose work plans to act upon to deliver progress on these goals.

## MISSION, VISION, VALUES

The mission, vision, and values are the cultural DNA of our organization. The mission is our purpose, what we seek to do. Our vision is what we hope to achieve. Our values are the core principles and compass for decision making.

The strategic plan is how our organization will work to advance the mission, achieve the vision, and be guided by the values, over the next five years.

## **OUR MISSION**

To enhance the well-being and quality of life for all community members through the provision of the highest level of public service consistent with the prudent use of public funds.

## **OUR VISION**

Albemarle County envisions a community with the following:

ABUNDANT NATURAL, RURAL, HISTORIC, AND SCENIC RESOURCES HEALTHY ECOSYSTEMS ACTIVE AND VIBRANT DEVELOPMENT AREAS A PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT THAT SUPPORTS HEALTHY LIFESTYLES A THRIVING ECONOMY EXCEPTIONAL EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES

for present and future generations.

## **OUR CORE VALUES**

Our core values are Community, Integrity, Innovation, Stewardship, and Learning.

We expect diversity, equity, and inclusion to be integrated into how we live our mission. We value our customers and co-workers by always providing honest and fair treatment. We embrace creativity and positive change. We honor our role as stewards of the public trust by managing our natural, human, and financial resources respectfully and responsibly. We encourage and support lifelong learning and personal and professional growth.





## ALBEMARLE COUNTY'S FISCAL YEAR 24-28 STRATEGIC GOALS

The Board of Supervisors sets the policy direction for the future and local government staff implement it through their public service. These efforts are maximized through Board-staff collaboration, guided by the Board of Supervisors' Operating Guidelines for High Quality Governance (page 10) and the Pillars of High Performance (page 9). The following goals have been prioritized to realize the County's vision and to achieve the mission – to enhance the well-being and quality of life for all community members.

The six strategic goals encompass where Albemarle County Government will focus resources to achieve progress in service to our community. The largest expenditure in any local government is in people - our staff - who work daily to provide programs and services aligned to the first five goals.

In the graphic to the right, the blue color that represents workforce and customer service weaves around our goals because investing in our people will have valuable impacts in all of these areas.



# HOW WE WILL GET THERE: GOALS & OBJECTIVES

## SAFETY & WELL-BEING

Nurture a safe and healthy community.

1.1 Support community safety through highly responsive services.

1.2 Enhance and develop human services initiatives to assist community in accessing existing resources.

1.3 Develop County wide public safety long range plan to include emergency preparedness and response.

## RESILIENT, EQUITABLE & ENGAGED COMMUNITY

Design programs and services that promote an equitable, engaged and climate-resilient community.

2.1 Develop tools for integrating climate action and equity into programs and services.

2.2 Implement the Climate Action Plan and the Biodiversity Action Plan.

2.3 Foster community partnerships and engagement around county priorities.

2.4 Implement stream health initiatives.

2.5 Identify and mitigate community risk while building, sustaining, and validating the community's capability to respond to and recover from disasters and other natural threats.



## INFRASTRUCTURE & PLACEMAKING

Invest in infrastructure and amenities that create connection, opportunity, and well-being.

3.1 Deploy county-wide communications through broadband programming.

3.2 Ensure that long range water and wastewater plans are in alignment with our development goals by partnering with Rivanna Water Sewer Authority and the Albemarle County Service Authority.

3.3 Determine the level and extent of services necessary to create a public works department for enhanced maintenance of public rights of way and other infrastructure of public use.

3.4 Implement long-range plans to embrace multimodal connectivity.

## QUALITY OF LIFE

Encourage a vibrant community with economic and recreational opportunities that serve all community members.

4.1 Develop AC44 Comprehensive Plan updates and Zoning modernization.

4.2 Update Project Enable to include County's role in Economic Development.

4.3 Implement Housing Albemarle.

4.4 Integrate parks planning with multi-modal transportation planning across the County.

4.5 Enhance overall access to parks and recreational opportunities with an emphasis on urban neighborhoods.

## EDUCATION & LEARNING

Support exceptional educational opportunities.

5.1 Collaborate and provide support for the Albemarle County Public Schools Strategic Plan.

5.2 Foster partnerships with CATEC, PVCC and UVA to advance our workforce pipeline, economic development, and affordable housing goals.

# WORKFORCE & CUSTOMER SERVICE

Recruit & retain engaged public servants who provide quality government services to advance our mission.

6.1 Implement a total compensation structure that makes us highly competitive compared to other employers.

6.2 Implement a comprehensive staff development and wellness program to retain highly qualified staff.

6.3 Modernize business processes and technology to transform customer service demands.

6.4 Implement office space planning and strategies with a focus on improved customer service, efficiency, and employee wellness.

## HOW WE WORK

## ALBEMARLE COUNTY'S ORGANIZATIONAL PILLARS OF HIGH PERFORMANCE

*We are ONE Organization, Committed to Excellence.* We are all stakeholders who share leadership, ownership, and responsibility for the County's vision, mission, core values, and strategic goals. This requires leadership at all levels.

## **OUR PUBLIC SERVICE COVENANT**

We will provide every customer with an experience that is professional, empathetic, and responsive.

## **OUR LEADERSHIP PHILOSOPHY**

We believe that...

people have a desire to engage in meaningful work and want to be valued contributors.

people can and should be trusted.

knowledge should be widely shared to ensure inclusion and learning, and to enable effective problem solving and decision-making.

engaging everyone's creativity, knowledge, and experience will help us take advantage of opportunities and overcome challenges.

those who are closest to the work know best how to direct and improve it and recognize that ideas can come from any person or place.

public service is a worthy calling. It is larger than any single individual and requires a network of committed and talented individuals working together to achieve excellence.

## **BUSINESS OPERATING PRINCIPLES**

Use common practices across the organization.

Organizational needs take precedent over department and individual preference.

Design with the customer need in mind.

Maximize integration and alignment.

Consider life cycle resource needs for new business systems.

Designate clear ownership and accountability.

Provide training, tools, communication, and support.

Collect and evaluate performance measures.

## ALBEMARLE COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OPERATING GUIDELINES FOR HIGH QUALITY GOVERNANCE

The Board commits to using the following guidelines to ensure high quality governance:

- 1. The County's strategic priorities will guide the work of the Board and staff and will be supported by a thoughtful priority setting process and cycle.
- 2. We will honor the expressed will of the majority and respect the concerns of the minority.
- 3.We ensure that policy decisions and directions to the County Executive are communicated by the entire Board.

Where this is unclear, the County Executive will seek clarification from the Board.

No single member of the Board can provide direction on policy implementation to the County Executive.

4.Board Members do not want their interactions with and requests to staff members to negatively impact staff productivity.

Staff members should use judgment and explain the resources that would be required to respond to Board requests.

If a policy issue is going to affect workload or a policy decision, it should come through the County Executive's office.

- 5. When a Board Member sends a communication to a staff member, it should be copied to the department director and the appropriate member of the County Executive's Office. Urgent matters will be clearly labeled in the subject line.
- 6.To assure maximum productivity, the Board should focus on policy-making work and the staff should focus on day- to day operational work and provide progress reports.
- 7. We are responsible for our districts, the entire County, and the region; therefore, we should give our best efforts to work for the benefit of all.
- 8. When a Board Member has a concern regarding staff performance, we go directly to the County Executive in a timely manner so that it can be addressed.



Just as the Strategic Plan will provide guidance to Albemarle County's elected leaders and administration, the initiatives within the plan will also validate the work of other community plans, studies, and future updates to Albemarle County's Comprehensive Plan.

The ideas in this Strategic Plan set the stage for future development within the County, while helping to create and improve the amenities, educational opportunities, and services that are vital to the high quality of life we all desire. The goals and objectives in this Strategic Plan set the direction our county's future, while helping to create and improve the amenities, educational opportunities, and services that are vital to enhancing our community's vibrancy and quality of life, for everyone.

We thank the Board of Supervisors, our community, and our staff who took part in the development of this plan, and for openly sharing their concerns, ideas, and individual goals for a better community.





WWW.ALBEMARLE.ORG



# Annual Economic Outlook Report for Albemarle County, Virginia (Fall 2022)





## Annual Economic Outlook Report for Albemarle County, Virginia

Prepared by Sheryl D. Bailey, Ph.D., Visiting Professor of Practice Principal Project Lead School of Public and International Affairs Virginia Tech



Acknowledgements:

- The Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget provided thoughtful insights and detailed, county-specific data in support of this research project.
- Leisha LaRiviere, Associate Director-Richmond of the School of Public and International Affairs at Virginia Tech, served as the Principal Investigator at the university for this project.
- Suzanne Holland, MPA Candidate at Virginia Tech, served as the Graduate Assistant providing technical assistance on this project.



## **Table of Contents**

I.	Executive Summary	7
П.	Methodology	10
III.	Global Context for the United States Economy	11
IV.	National Economic Overview and Outlook	13
A. B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I.	<ul> <li>Labor Market Trends</li> <li>Consumer Activity</li> <li>Consumer and Producer Prices</li> <li>Federal Reserve Actions to Address Inflation</li> <li>Real Estate Market Trends</li> <li>Business Activity</li> </ul>	16 22 26 29 32 37 39
V.	Virginia Economic Overview and Outlook	41
A. B. C. D. E.	<ul> <li>Virginia's Labor Market Trends</li> <li>Virginia's Consumer Activity</li> <li>Virginia's Housing Activity</li> </ul>	
VI.	Albemarle County, Virginia Economic Overview and Outlook	50
A. B. C. E. F.	<ul> <li>Labor Market Trends in Albemarle County, Virginia</li> <li>Consumer Activity in Albemarle County, Virginia</li> <li>Housing Activity in Albemarle County, Virginia</li> <li>Business Activity in Albemarle County, Virginia</li> </ul>	51 57 58 62
VII.	Additional Community Factors for Albemarle County, Virginia	73
А. В. С.	Housing Patterns and Costs	77
VIII.	Conclusions and Recommendations	83
IX.	References	85
Х.	Appendix	



## **List of Tables**

Table 1. U.S. and Selected World Real GDP 2021 and Forecasts 2022-2023 (%y/y)	. 12
Table 2. U.S. Real Gross Domestic Product Annual and Quarterly Rates, 2019 - Q2:2022	. 14
Table 3. U.S. Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) Actions in 2022	. 30
Table 4. Employment Status as a Percent of Population 16 and Older, U.S., Virginia, and	
Albemarle County, Virginia, 2016-2020	. 56
Table 5. Employment by Industry: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2016-2020	. 57
Table 6. Establishments, Employees and Annual Payroll by Industry: Virginia and Albemarle	
County, Virginia 2020	. 64
Table 7. Household Income and Benefits 2016-2020: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County,	
Virginia (in 2020 dollars)	. 74
Table 8. Percentage of Families Below the Poverty Level 2016-2020: U.S., Virginia, and	
Albemarle County, Virginia	. 75
Table 9: Housing Occupancy and Tenure: U.S., Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia 2010	6-
2020	. 77
Table 10. Housing Value: U.S., Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia 2016-2020	. 78
Table 11. Housing Selected Monthly Owner Costs (SMOC): U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle	
County, Virginia 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)	. 79
Table 12. Housing Selected Monthly Owner Costs (SMOC) as a Percentage of Household	
Income: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)	. 80
Table 13. Gross Rent and Gross Rent as a Percentage of Household Income: U.S., Virginia, a	and
Albemarle County, Virginia, 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)	. 81
Table 14. Educational Attainment 2016-2020: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia.	. 82
Table 15. Selected Virginia Statistical Area Delineations, 2020	. 89

## **List of Figures**

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Component, Q1:2019 – Q2:2022 15
Figure 3. U.S. Real Gross Domestic Product al	nd Gross Domestic Income, Q1:2000 – Q2:2022 
Figure 4, U.S. Total Nonfarm Payroll Jobs, Jan	uary 2000 – August 202217
<b>.</b>	/roll Jobs, August 2021 – August 2022
· · · · · ·	y 2000 – August 2022 18
Figure 7. U.S. Unemployment Rate: BLS U-3 (	Official Rate), BLS U-6, and Federal Reserve Non-
Employment Index, January 2000 - August	2022
Figure 8: U.S. Job Opening and Quit Rates, Ja	anuary 2019 – July 2022 20
Figure 9. U.S. Average Hourly Earnings March	2003 – August 2022 (%y/y) 21
Figure 10. U.S. Labor Force Participation Janu	ary 1948 – August 2022 21
Figure 11. U.S. Labor Force Participation by G	ender January 2000 – August 2022
Figure 12. U.S. Consumer Confidence, Januar	y 2000 – August 2022 23
Figure 13. U.S. Consumer Sentiment, January	2000 – September 2022
Figure 14. U.S. Real Personal Income and Rea	Personal Consumption Expenditures January
2010 – July 2022 (%y/y)	
, ( , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	2 – July 2022



Figure 16. U.S. Retail Sales January 2020 – August 2022 (%m/m)	25
Figure 17. U.S. Monthly Change in Consumer Prices, January 2000 – August 2022 (%y/y)	26
Figure 18. U.S. Real Personal Consumption Expenditures Goods and Services January 2020	-
July 2022	27
Figure 19. U.S. Monthly Change in Consumer Goods, Services and Total Prices, January 200	0
– August 2022 (%y/y)	
Figure 20. U.S. Monthly Change in Producer Goods, Services and Total Prices, January 2019	– (
August 2022 (%m/m)	29
Figure 21. U.S. Federal Funds Rate and Federal Reserve Total Assets, January 1, 2000 –	
September 21, 2022	31
Figure 22. U.S. Federal Funds Rate and Consumer Price Index-Urban, January 1, 1948 –	
September 21, 2022	32
Figure 23. U.S. New Home Sales, January 2000 – July 2022	
Figure 24. U.S. Existing Home Sales, August 2019 – August 2022	
Figure 25. U.S. New Homes Monthly Supply, January 2000 – July 2022	
Figure 26. U.S. Existing Homes Monthly Supply, August 2021 – August 2022	
Figure 27. U.S. House Price Index (Single-Family), Q1:2000 – Q2:2022 (%y/y)	
Figure 28. U.S. New Home Median Sale Price, January 2000 – July 2022	
Figure 29. U.S. Existing Home Median Sale Price, August 2021 – August 2022	
Figure 30. U.S. New Residential Construction January 2000 – August 2022	
Figure 31. U.S. Nonresidential Construction Spending, January 2002 – July 2006	
Figure 32. U.S. Industrial Production, January 2000 – August 2022 (%y/y)	
Figure 33. U. S. Business Confidence Index: Manufacturing, January 2017 – August 2022	
Figure 34. U.S. Leading Economic Indicator Index (%y/y), January 2000 to August 2008	
Figure 35. U.S. and Virginia GDP, Q1:2006 to Q2:2022	
Figure 36. Total Nonfarm Payroll Jobs: U.S. & Virginia January 2000 to August 2022	
Figure 37. Monthly Change in Jobs: U.S. and Virginia, August 2021 – August 2022	
Figure 38. Total Employment: U.S. and Virginia, Q4:2003 to Q2:2022	
Figure 39. Unemployment Rate (U-3 Official Rate): U.S. and Virginia, January 2000 – August	
2022	44
Figure 40. Unemployment Rate: Virginia BLS U-3 (Official Rate) and BLS U-6, Q4:2003 –	
Q2:2022	-
Figure 41. Average Hourly Earnings: U.S. and Virginia January 2007 – August 2022	
Figure 42. Labor Force Participation: U.S. and Virginia January 2010 to August 2022	
Figure 43. Real Per Capita Personal Income: U.S. and Virginia 2008 - 2020	
Figure 44. Consumer Spending: U.S. and Virginia 2000-2021 (%y/y)	
Figure 45. Retail Trade: U.S. and Virginia Q4:2005 – Q1:2022	
Figure 46. Existing Home Sales: Virginia January 2020 – July 2022 (%y/y)	48
Figure 47. House Price Index (Single-Family): U.S. and Virginia, Q1:2000 – Q2:2022 (%y/y)	
Figure 48. New Residential Building Permits: Virginia January 2010 – July 2022	
Figure 49. GDP: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2000-2021 (%y/y)	
Figure 50. Employment Level: U.S., Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2000-2021 (%y/	- /
	51
Figure 51. Employed Persons: Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia, January 2019 – July	
2022 (%y/y)	52
Figure 52. Unemployment Rate: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, January 2000	
August 2022	53



Figure 53. Average Hourly Earnings: U.S., Virginia, and Charlottesville, Virginia MSA, January 2007 – August 2021
Figure 54. Average Hourly Earnings: Charlottesville, Staunton-Waynesboro, Harrisonburg, and
Richmond, Virginia MSAs, January 2007 – August 2021
Figure 55. Labor Force Participation Rate: U.S., Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2010 –
2021
2008 – 2020
Figure 57. Monthly Change in Existing Home Sales: Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia
January 2020 to July 2022 (%y/y)
Figure 58. House Price Index (Single-Family): U.S., Virginia, and Charlottesville, Virginia MSA,
Q1:2000 – Q2:2022 (%y/y)
Figure 59. House Price Index (Single-Family): Charlottesville, Staunton, Harrisonburg, and
Richmond, Virginia MSAs, Q1:2000 – Q2:2022 (%y/y)60
Figure 60. Median Listing Price per Square Foot: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia,
July 2016 – August 202261
Figure 61. Median Listing Price per Square Foot: Albemarle County, Virginia, and
Charlottesville, Staunton, Harrisonburg, and Richmond, Virginia MSAs, July 2016 – August
2022
Figure 62. Total Annual Gross Receipts Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -CY2022:YTD as of
August 10, 2022
Figure 63. Annual Gross Receipts – Contractors, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -
CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022
Figure 64. Annual Gross Receipts – Financial, Real Estate, Professional Services, Albemarle
County, Virginia, CY2017 -CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022
Figure 65. Annual Gross Receipts – Rental by Owner, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -
CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022
Figure 66. Annual Gross Receipts – Repair, Personal and Business Services, Albemarle County,
Virginia, CY2017 -CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022
CY2017 – CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022
Figure 68. Annual Gross Receipts – Retailers, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -
CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022
Figure 69. Annual Gross Receipts – Wholesale - Other, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -
CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022
Figure 70. Annual Gross Receipts – All Other Categories, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -
CY2022: YTD as of August 10, 2022
Figure 71. Average Hourly Earnings Leisure and Hospitality: U.S. and Virginia, January 2007 –
August 2022
Figure 72. Annual Changes in Poverty: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2000 –
2020
Figure 73. House Price Index (Single Family): Albemarle County, Virginia, and Charlottesville,
Virginia MSA, 2000 - 2021



## I. Executive Summary

This Annual Economic Outlook Report for Albemarle County, Virginia, provides a comprehensive review of the current intricate and unique economic circumstances globally and in the United States (U.S.) that present the framework for assessing the economic conditions for Albemarle County and the Commonwealth of Virginia.

The U.S. economy is the largest in the world and while it is a dominant global player, the U.S. economy also routinely benefits from and is dependent on global economic markets and growth. The global economic interconnectedness affects everyone in the U.S. daily. American consumers demand and enjoy goods manufactured and shipped from other countries and U.S. businesses are dependent on global supplies and sell globally. Moreover, what happens elsewhere affects U.S. consumers and businesses quickly in a global economy where goods and services are produced and shipped all over the world.

The global economic interconnectedness has been felt poignantly recently. In fact, the U.S. economy, along with other countries' economies, has been whipsawed by major global events for over two-and-a-half years since early 2020. It is to our advantage to understand the dynamic circumstances and interconnections that appear quickly on our doorsteps to foster pro-active and defensive action to protect our bottom lines and advance our strategic missions and goals.

Therefore, to better frame and understand the local and regional economy, the report first establishes the context of the global economic conditions and then proceeds with a comprehensive analysis of national, state, and local economic trends and outlook.

The report's comprehensive analysis of global and national economic trends identifies that the global and U.S. economies are still processing the effects of the coronavirus pandemic as well as the impacts of the Russian-Ukrainian war at this writing. Shifting consumer demand for goods and services during the course of the pandemic and global and domestic supply chain disruptions caused shifting supply and demand imbalances resulting in inflationary and labor market pressures. These pandemic effects were still being processed by world markets in early 2022 when Russia invaded Ukraine which caused significant, global supply and price shocks.

Already elevated inflation spiked to record highs after the Russian-Ukrainian war exacerbated inflationary pressures caused by the pandemic and supply chain disruptions. As a result, the Federal Reserve began consistently raising the federal funds rate in early 2022, after which inflation continued to rise, and the Fed instituted a total of five rate increases through September 2022 with a stated commitment to continue rate increases to do what it takes to cool demand and beat back inflation. Relatedly, concerns grew during 2022 regarding the potential for rising interest rates to dampen consumer and business demand to the point that the U.S. economy is pushed into a recession.

Despite U.S. real gross domestic product (GDP) declining two consecutive quarters in early 2022, the U.S. economy had not entered into a recession as of mid-2022 based on the depth, diffusion and duration criteria of the National Bureau of Economic Research Business Cycle



Dating Committee that officially determines the timing of recessions. Yet current economic indicators are mixed at this writing with slowing activity in some sectors along with resiliency in other sectors, including a continued strong job market. Inflation remains at record highs and the Federal Reserve further confirmed at its September 2022 meeting its commitment to continue to raise rates into 2023 to convincingly bring inflation back toward its longer-run target of 2%, and a willingness to tolerate higher unemployment to achieve its price stability goal. The tight job market, which has been pushing on inflation, and the return of the official unemployment rate to pre-pandemic levels provides the Federal Reserve incentive and room to address its price stability mandate along with its maximum employment mandate.

Based on growing signals, an economic slowdown appears likely to be unfolding in the U.S. and globally at this writing, with an anticipated arrival by late 2022 or early 2023. The most recent prominent forecasts project U.S. real GDP growth of 0.2% to 1.6% in 2022, and -0.2% to 1.6% in 2023, compared to 5.7% growth in U.S. real GDP in 2021. There are several headwinds and downside risks to the economic forecasts with wide bands of uncertainty regarding inflation, interest rates, the housing market, declining real personal income, cooling consumer and business demand, continuing supply challenges, continued geopolitical risks and impacts (such as supply and price shocks), and a reshuffling of global trade flows. The evolving circumstances and wide bands of uncertainty have led to repeated revisions to economic forecasts thus far in 2022 with more revisions expected.

Along with the global and national reviews, the report provides a detailed analysis of Virginia's economy and its relationship to the national economy, including overall economic growth, labor market trends, and consumer and housing activity. Since the report finds that Virginia's key economic indicators generally follow the patterns of the related national indicators, albeit sometimes at different levels, the national economic outlook is a relevant barometer for the state's economic outlook.

For Albemarle County, Virginia, the report provides a detailed analysis of the County's economic trends and outlook, including overall economic growth, labor market trends, and consumer, housing, and business activity, as well as the relationship between the County's economic indicators and those of the state and nation.

The report also provides detailed analysis of Albemarle County's additional community factors related to income and poverty, housing patterns and costs, and educational attainment based on the rich data released in the U.S. Census Bureau's most recent American Community Survey (ACS) 2016-2020. This examination is intended to highlight key characteristics and provide information to support effective policy analysis and decision-making for the community.

The report finds that Albemarle County has a strong economy with a history of mostly solid economic and job growth, high real per capita personal income, low unemployment, strong hourly wages regionally, significant employment in relatively higher-income industries, and strong local business activity.



Given the identified history of Albemarle County's economic indicators generally following state and national economic trends, albeit sometimes at different levels, the report further recommends it prudent for Albemarle County to also anticipate an economic cooling with the accumulating signals of a likely economic slowdown in the U.S., state, and globally. Additionally, Albemarle County's overall solid economic base provides more scope within which to effectively plan and act defensively as compared to many other communities that face major, chronic economic issues.

To facilitate continued financial resiliency and agility, the report also provides organizational recommendations in the face of the rapidly changing environment and identifies some areas for additional consideration during policy reviews based on the County's economic review.

Albemarle County's history of prudent financial management and its overall solid economic base provide a foundation and community capacity for strategic initiatives. Many other communities struggle with strategic initiatives because their economic foundations are not solid and repeatedly require significant organizational resources to maintain effective operations.

As always is the case, we "have to run hard to break even and run even harder to get ahead." Thus, the County's strategic and methodical analysis, review, and policymaking are commended and will continue to advance the community toward its strategic objectives.


# II. Methodology

The methodological approach to this study was custom-tailored to the needs of Albemarle County, Virginia. Myriad economic and community indicators were researched and carefully selected to maximize the insights regarding the County's economic foundation and history; the relationship between the county's economic indicators and those for the state, nation and surrounding Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSAs); and current economic trends and outlook. In many instances, alternative versions of indicators were researched to maximize comparisons between the County and the state, nation or surrounding MSAs (e.g., per capita, or annual, quarterly or monthly data).

Each table and graph also was custom-built for this report in the Federal Reserve Economic Data (FRED) interactive database tool or Excel to effectively visualize the relevant economic trends and relationships. For continuity and cohesiveness through the report, a consistent coloring scheme was used for graphs, with the U.S. data presented in blue, Virginia data in red, and Albemarle County, Virginia, data in green.



# III. Global Context for the United States Economy

When we think of the economy, it is natural to think of our experiences at our jobs, the grocery and retail stores, and the gas pump. Yet, all those elements are impacted by the global economy. The U.S. economy is the largest in the world and while it is a dominant global player, the U.S. economy routinely benefits from and is dependent on global economic markets and growth. The global interconnectedness affects everyone in the U.S. daily. Just as an example, many of the items we purchase at grocery and retail stores are manufactured and shipped from other countries. And our American businesses are dependent on global supplies and sell globally. While we are blessed with a large land mass in the United States (U.S.) that stretches from "sea to shining sea" that causes us to feel somewhat removed from events around the world. what happens elsewhere affects us quickly in a global economy where goods and services are produced and shipped all over the world.

The global interconnectedness has been felt poignantly recently. In fact, the U.S. economy, along with other countries' economies, has been whipsawed by major global events for over twoand-half years since early 2020. It is to our advantage to understand the dynamic circumstances and interconnections that appear quickly on our doorsteps to foster pro-active and defensive action to protect our bottom lines and advance our strategic missions and goals.

Therefore, to better frame and understand the local and regional economy, this report first establishes context with the global economic conditions and then proceeds with a comprehensive analysis of national, state, and local economic trends and outlook.

The global and U.S. economies are still processing the effects of the coronavirus pandemic as well as the impacts of the Russian-Ukrainian war at this writing. Shifting consumer demand for goods and services during the course of the pandemic and global and domestic supply chain disruptions caused shifting supply and demand imbalances resulting in inflationary and labor market pressures. These pandemic effects were still being processed by world markets in early 2022 when Russia invaded Ukraine which caused significant, global supply and price shocks.

While the Russian and Ukrainian economies are relatively small overall, the two countries are major global suppliers of energy, grain, and raw materials (e.g., scandium, gallium, vanadium, titanium, platinum, antimony) that are important to other countries and manufacturing worldwide (Conference Board, April 13, 2022). Thus, the supply disruptions related to the Russian-Ukrainian war have reverberated around the world and increased prices for food, energy, raw materials, and numerous goods dependent on these inputs (e.g., fertilizer, semiconductors, and many other goods). For example, The Conference Board estimates that Ukraine and Russia combined account for 16% of the world exports of grain, matching the United States' share, including wheat, rye, barley, oats, corn (maize), sorghum, and various other grains (Conference Board, March 2022). Additionally, the U.S. Energy Information Administration reported that in 2021 Russia was the third largest producer of oil accounting for 11% of the world supply, behind the U.S. Energy Information Administration. Further, Forbes reported that



in 2021 Russia was the second largest producer of natural gas worldwide with a 17% global share, behind the U.S. as the top producer with a 23% share (Rapier, July 25, 2022).

Thus, the supply disruptions of the Russia-Ukraine war show up in the cost and availability of innumerable products around the globe, with certain regions dependent on their supply more acutely impacted than others.

China's role in global manufacturing and its zero-covid policy also are impacting the global economy and outlook. In 2011-2019 China's real GDP grew at an average 5.7% annually, serving as a major driver of global economic growth, along with India and Turkey. Even during the first full year of the coronavirus pandemic, China's real GDP grew a modest 2.0% and bounced back at a strong 8.0% rate in 2021. However, repeated coronavirus surges and lockdowns along with a real estate market crisis are dragging down China's growth this year, which is projected to grow a tepid 2-4% based on the age of the forecast, with relatively tepid projections for 2023 (Table 1).

As noted in Table 1 below, world gross domestic product (GDP) increased a healthy 5.7%-6.0% in 2021, as a rebound from the initial onset of the coronavirus pandemic, after declining -3.3% in 2020 in the first year of the pandemic (World Bank, OECD, S&P Global, and the Conference Board). For 2022, global real GDP in 2022 is projected to increase 2.7%-3.0% with a wider projected range of 1.7%-3.0% for 2023, based on the latest forecasts at this writing with the more recent forecasts at the end of the summer trending lower than the projections at the beginning of the summer. High global inflation heavily driven by food and energy prices, central bank tightening worldwide to tame inflation, declining consumer demand, continued supply strains, and geopolitical risks are expected to impact global economic growth in 2022-2023. As a point of reference, The Conference Board estimates that during the pre-pandemic period of 2011-2019, the World GDP average annual growth rate was 3.1%. Forecasts have been repeatedly downgraded this year since the Russian invasion of Ukraine and numerous central banks worldwide began raising interest rates to combat global inflation.

U.S. and Selected World Real GDP Annual % Change 2021 - 2023												
	United States		World			Euro Area			China			
Forecast Organization	2021	2022*	2023*	2021	2022*	2023*	2021	2022*	2023*	2021	2022*	* 2023*
World Bank, June 2022	5.7	2.5	2.4	5.7	2.9	3.0	5.4	2.5	1.9	8.1	4.3	5.2
OECD, June 2022	5.7	2.5	1.2	5.8	3.0	2.8	5.3	2.6	1.6	8.1	4.4	4.9
S&P Global June 2022	5.7	2.4	1.6	6.0	3.6	3.5	n/a	2.6	1.9	n/a	3.3	5.4
Conference Board, September 2022	5.7	1.4	0.3	6.0	2.7	1.7	5.1	3.2	0.2	8.0	2.0	3.0
Wells Fargo Economics, Aug. & Sept. 2022	5.7	1.9	-0.2	n/a	n/a	n/a	5.4	3.0	-0.4	8.1	3.0	4.9
Federal Reserve, Septermber 2022**	5.7	0.2	1.2	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Moody's Analytics, September 2022	5.7	1.3	1.4	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
KPMG Economics, September 2022	5.7	1.6	0.3	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
University of Michigan, August 2022	5.7	1.5	0.1	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a

Table 1. U.S. and Selected World Real GDP 2021 and Forecasts 2022-2023 (%y/y)

\*Forecast; \*\*Federal Open Market Committee



Headwinds to global growth are widely expected to increase in late 2022 into 2023 based on a careful review of reports by the forecasting organizations in Table 1 along with Fitch Ratings. At this writing concerns are rising of a potential broad-based, global recession which provide several downside risks to current forecasts and wide bands of uncertainty: heightened geopolitical risks, the energy crisis in Europe resulting from the Russian-Ukrainian war, global inflation, monetary tightening by central banks worldwide to arrest inflation, cooling consumer and business demand, and reshuffling of global trade flows. A major negative movement in any one of these factors, or an accumulation of smaller negative movements across multiple factors could have a significant downward impact on global growth.

# **IV. National Economic Overview and Outlook**

Overall, the U.S. national economy currently is presenting mixed results and facing several headwinds. This analysis will proceed through the economy's building blocks, first examining overall economic growth and then reviewing the labor, price, monetary policy, consumer, real estate, and business components.

## A. Economic Growth Overall

## Nuances Underlying U.S. Gross Domestic Product

As a backdrop, during 2011-2019 U.S. real GDP grew at an average annual rate of 2.2% (The Conference Board, August 2022). See Figure 1 below for a historical view of real GDP.



Figure 1. U.S. Real Gross Domestic Product, Q1:2000 – Q2:2022

Seasonally adjusted annual rate

Once the pandemic hit, the U.S. national economy rode the global pandemic roller coaster along with the rest of the world, with real GDP declining -3.4% in 2020 and rebounding with strong 5.7% growth in 2021. It was a bumpy ride through the virus variant surges as noted in Table 2



below, with quarterly real GDP growth rising and falling as consumers quickly responded to waves of coronavirus case, hospitalization, and death data.

It is interesting to note that consumers generally responded to the coronavirus health data distinctly before any government mitigation actions as revealed by credit and debit card purchase and locational statistics and mobility data (Chetty et al., 2020). Our credit and debit cards and cell phones yield significant real-time data (anonymized) that are now closely monitored by economists for early economic signals before official federal statistics are released. The key takeaways are that (a) consumers and businesses react faster than reflected in official government statistics, and (b) it is advisable to develop and maintain a variety of information sources and relationships to routinely monitor, preferably close to labor market, consumer, and business activity, especially in fluid and evolving circumstances.

Table 2. U.S. Real Gross Domestic Product Annual and Quarterly Rates, 2019 --- Q2:2022

U.S. Real Gross Domestic Product Annual Rate & Percent Change from Preceding Quarter													
				Seasonally Adjusted Annual Rates									
					20	20			20	2022			
	2019	2020	2021	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2*
Real gross domestic product													
(GDP)	2.3	-3.4	5.7	-5.1	-31.2	33.8	4.5	6.3	6.7	2.3	6.9	-1.6	-0.6

\* Second estimate released August 25, 2022

In 2022, U.S. real GDP declined at the seasonally adjusted annual rates of -1.6% and -0.6% in the first and second quarter, respectively. However, the U.S. economy is not currently in a recession at this writing, despite the often used "rule of thumb" of two consecutive quarters of contracting real GDP as a signal of a recession. In reality, the official start and ending dates of U.S. recessions are determined by the National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) Business Cycle Dating Committee, which uses several federal monthly aggregate statistics to assess the depth, diffusion and duration of a slowdown in economic activity. NBER's traditional definition of recession is for a "significant decline in economic activity that is spread across the economy and that lasts more than a few months" (NBER, n/d). A range of U.S. economic data indicate that the U.S. economy does not yet meet the NBER criteria for recession, and the analysis below provides a better look behind the curtain of the headline numbers.

A closer examination of the components of real GDP for Q1:2022 and Q2:2022 reveal a more nuanced picture. U.S. GDP has four main components: (a) consumer spending, comprising over 68%, (b) business investment, including fixed investment (residential and nonresidential) and inventories, (c) government spending (federal, state, and local), and (d) net exports (exports less imports). We will walk through these GDP building blocks for the first half of 2022 (H1:2022) to gain a clearer picture of the moving parts underneath the surface. Figure 2 below presents the quarterly percentage change in real GDP in 2019 through Q2:2022 and the component contributions of the personal consumption expenditures, private fixed investments, private

fred.stlouisfed.ora



inventories, total government expenditures and gross investment, and new exports of goods and services. Note the component shifts above and below the zero percent black line through the graph, with personal consumption expenditures (fuchsia), the majority component, staying above the line through Q2:2022 and positively contributing to real GDP growth.



Source: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis



Shaded areas indicate U.S. recessions.

In Q1:2022, personal consumption expenditures and business fixed investment (residential and nonresidential) increased over the preceding quarter, but a greater negative trade imbalance (exports less imports) and decreases in private inventory investment and government spending in the first quarter pulled down real GDP into an overall reduction. The lower real GDP figure masked underlying solid fundamentals in consumer and business spending in the economy in Q1:2022, with consumer spending comprising over 68% of the U.S. economy and solid business investments in equipment and intellectual property products. Further, increased imports in the first quarter were driven by robust consumer demand for durable goods, especially nonfood and nonautomotive consumer goods, and a strong dollar. The lower private inventory investment in the first quarter was led by motor vehicle impacts on wholesale and retail trade, and the decrease in federal government spending mainly reflected lower defense spending on intermediate goods and services.

In Q2:2022, real personal consumption expenditures again increased over the preceding quarter, albeit at a slower rate than in the first quarter. The increased consumer spending reflected a strong shift to services, partly offset by lower goods expenditures, indicating consumers exuberantly emerged in Spring 2022 after two years of cloistered, pandemic living. Consumers' spirited shift to services in the second quarter is related to two deductions in real GDP, the reductions in private inventory investment, especially in retail, and the increase in imports for services and travel (which negatively impact GDP). Beyond inventories, overall business spending in the second quarter was impacted by lower residential fixed investment, primarily brokers' commissions, and reduced nonresidential fixed investment in structures and equipment mostly offset by higher intellectual property investments. Federal government spending was reduced by nondefense spending, mainly reflecting releases from the Strategic Oil Reserve,

Seasonally adjusted annual rate



offset by higher defense spending. Additionally, state, and local government spending was lower in the second quarter as compared to the first quarter, primarily related to lower expenditures on structures.

#### U.S. Gross Domestic Income

Given the nuances in real GDP for H1:2022, it is helpful to also look at Gross Domestic Income (GDI), an alternative measure of economic activity also routinely released by the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA). While GDP measures the total value of everything produced from the spending side, GDI measures the total income received from producing those things in the economy. As seen in Figure 2 below, real GDP steadily increased in both Q1:2022 and Q2:2022 while GDP experienced the component shifts noted in the section above that pulled the quarterly figures down during that period.





#### Seasonally adjusted annual rate

## B. Labor Market Trends

The pandemic altered the U.S. labor market in many ways. This section will review national trends in jobs, employment, unemployment, job openings and quits, hourly wages, and labor force participation.

After a dramatic drop in nonfarm payroll jobs in March-April 2020 with the onset of the coronavirus pandemic, the U.S. economy posted monthly job growth almost consistently during May 2020 to August 2022, except for a slight dip in December 2020 coinciding with the detection of the coronavirus Alpha variant (BLS establishment survey; Figures 4).





Figure 4. U.S. Total Nonfarm Payroll Jobs, January 2000 – August 2022

Establishment survey; seasonally adjusted

Solid nonfarm payroll job growth was posted in July 2022 with the addition of 526,000 jobs, followed by the addition of another 315,000 jobs in August 2022 (BLS establishment survey; Figure 5). In August 2022, the cumulative job gains since May 2020 pushed the U.S. economy across the threshold to fully recover the jobs lost during the pandemic. While the economy essentially "broke even" in August 2022 with the February 2020 total jobs number, the two and one-half years of job growth that we would have taken place without the pandemic was still foregone (based on previous trends).





Establishment survey; seasonally adjusted

In addition to the monthly establishment survey to assess nonfarm payroll jobs, the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) also conducts a monthly household survey to assess the civilian labor force, employment, and unemployment.



After also dropping precipitously at the beginning of the pandemic, the total number of employed persons in the U.S. steadily increased monthly from May 2021 – August 2022, cumulatively growing to register just below the pre-pandemic level of employment in August 2022 (BLS household survey; Figure 6).





After a meteoric and quick rise with the onset of the pandemic to a peak of 14.7% in April 2020, the official unemployment rate (labeled U-3 by BLS) steadily decreased from May 2020 to March 2022, reaching 3.6% in March 2022 which is the same general territory as the monthly unemployment rate during the six-month period before the pandemic. The official unemployment rate stayed flat at 3.6% during April 2022 to June 2022, reducing slightly to 3.5% in July 2022 and rising slightly to 3.7% in August 2022 (BLS household survey; Figure 7).

Looking below the headline unemployment statistics provides a fuller view of labor market conditions. Both the BLS and the Federal Reserve System publish additional indicators to assess labor underutilization (BLS) and non-employment (Federal Reserve), with the BLS monthly publishing six measures of unemployment or labor underutilization.

A quick summary of some additional BLS labor force classifications:

- The official unemployment rate, U-3, measures the number of people in the household survey reporting as being laid-off and awaiting recall or as being unemployed and having actively looked for work during the previous four weeks, as a percentage of the civilian labor force. Thus, U-3 excludes unemployed persons that actively looked for work during a period beyond the immediately preceding four weeks (the monthly household survey is conducted mid-month).
- BLS assigns the classification "marginally attached to the labor force" to persons who report they are willing and able to work and actively sought a job in the last 12 months but had stopped actively looking. Marginally attached persons are not included in the BLS civilian labor force calculation.

Household survey; seasonally adjusted



• U-6 is the BLS fuller measure of labor underutilization which incorporates U-3, plus all persons marginally attached to the labor force and those reporting being employed parttime for economic reasons (PERT) but would like to work full-time (as a percentage of the civilian labor force plus all persons marginally attached to the labor force). (BLS Table A-15, August 2022).

Just before the pandemic, U-6 registered at 7.0% in February 2020. After spiking dramatically early in the pandemic to 22.9% in April 2020, U-6 steadily declined during May 2020 to January 2022, and then bounced around in the 6.7% - 7.1% range during February to August 2022, thereby generally returning to the range for U-6 six months prior to the pandemic's onset (BLS household survey; Figure 7).

The Federal Reserve also conducts a broader monthly assessment of non-employment based on the microdata in the BLS monthly household survey. The Hornstein-Kudlyak-Lange Non-Employment Index (NEI) considers both unemployed persons and those out of the labor force and weights different non-employed groups based on historical rates of transitioning back into the job market (e.g., marginally attached to the labor force, students, retirees, the disabled, and those not retired, disabled, or in school). The Federal Reserve's NEI-PERT index is a companion measure to the BLS U-6 unemployment rate.

The Fed's NEI+PERT index likewise spiked early in the pandemic to 17.8% in April 2020, gradually decreased beginning in May 2020, and registered at 8.2% in August 2022, thereby generally returning to the general range reported in the six months before the pandemic. (Richmond Fed, August 2022)

U-6 and NEI+PERT indicate there is persistent labor underutilization and non-employment exists in the economy beyond the headline, official employment rate. A key element to note is that persons not actively looking for work in the last four weeks are not included in the monthly official unemployment rate or civilian labor force calculation. From a policy perspective, it is prudent to closely examine both the official unemployment rate and those persons classified as out of the labor force.



## Figure 7. U.S. Unemployment Rate: BLS U-3 (Official Rate), BLS U-6, and Federal Reserve Non-Employment Index, January 2000 - August 2022



Seasonally adjusted

Monthly growth in job openings in the U.S. exceeded pre-pandemic levels beginning in February 2021 with the initial roll-out of vaccines, with monthly job opening growth continuing at a high level through the first half of 2022 (H1:2022) and a moderation appearing in Summer 2022 (BLS; Figure 8).

Quit rates similarly increased above pre-pandemic levels in early 2021 and remained elevated through H1:2022 with a moderation appearing in Summer 2022 (BLS; Figure 8).





The tight labor market has led to significant monthly jumps in U.S. wages almost continuously since April 2020 except for one month in Spring 2021 (BLS; Figure 9). Thus far in 2022, while monthly U.S. wage growth peaked in March 2022 and declined slightly through the summer, in



August 2022 hourly wages increased 5.2% in the U.S., almost 2% higher than the average monthly wage growth in calendar year 2019 (3.3%).



Figure 9. U.S. Average Hourly Earnings March 2003 – August 2022 (%y/y)

Seasonally adjusted

The current tight labor market also has been impacted by the long-term decline in labor force participation since the mid-1990's and the dramatic drop at the pandemic's onset. Many people who left the U.S. labor force at the beginning of the pandemic have not yet returned as of August 2020 (BLS; Figure 10). As of August 2020, women's labor force participation rate had almost reached its pre-pandemic level while that for men still had not fully recovered (BLS; Figure 11).



Figure 10. U.S. Labor Force Participation January 1948 – August 2022

Seasonally adjusted





Figure 11. U.S. Labor Force Participation by Gender January 2000 – August 2022

## C. Consumer Activity

Consumer spending is a driving component of the U.S. economy, comprising over 68% of U.S. GDP. This section will review several factors of consumer activity in the U.S. economy.

#### **Consumer Confidence and Sentiment**

Consumers' perspective on the economy is so important that it is monitored in many ways. Two widely used indicators are the U.S. Consumer Confidence Index published monthly by OECD and the University of Michigan Consumer Sentiment Index. The two indicators track closely and reflect the consumers' bumpy ride on the pandemic roller coaster which also was exacerbated by global price shocks in early 2022 (Figures 12 and 13).

Consumers' outlook plummeted at the onset of the pandemic in March 2020 and began to rebound in June 2020 with emergence after the initial pandemic lockdown. Monthly improvements in consumers' outlook continued through April 2021 when coronavirus variants caused new coronavirus surges and growing inflation began to pinch. Consumers' outlook experienced an almost steady slide from May 2021 through the Summer 2022 with waves of new coronavirus variants and surges, growing inflation, and major food and energy price shocks due to the Russian-Ukrainian war. Consumers' outlook finally broke its long fall in August – September 2022 with gas price relief and a slight easing in the previously ever-growing inflation.





Figure 12. U.S. Consumer Confidence, January 2000 – August 2022

Seasonally adjusted

Figure 13. U.S. Consumer Sentiment, January 2000 – September 2022



Not seasonally adjusted

## Personal Income and Consumer Spending

Historical patterns in U.S. real personal income and real personal consumption expenditures also were disrupted by the pandemic. Real personal income monthly growth plummeted to 0.5% (y/y) in March 2020 with the onset of the pandemic and began a cycle of rebounding and then sharply dropping with each of the federal government's three stimulus checks in March 2020, December 2020, and March 2021 (BEA; Figure 14). After dropping to negative territory in April 2021, real personal income exhibited modest positive monthly growth in August – December 2021 and has remained mostly negative during January – September 2022 with a sharp monthly decline in March 2021.



Real personal consumption expenditures, a substantial component of GDP (over 68%), immediately started monthly drops in March 2020 with the onset of the coronavirus epidemic, registering a pandemic-era monthly low of -16.4% (y/y) in April 2020, and monthly growth stayed negative through February 2021 (Figure 14). Real personal consumption expenditures strongly rebounded with a substantial monthly gain in March 2021, finally jumping into positive territory, where it remained solidly positive through February 2022 (registering 6.5% (y/y) in February 2022). While remaining positive, monthly growth in real personal consumption expenditures dropped significantly in March 2022 after the global food and energy shocks brought by the Russian invasion of Ukraine. Real personal consumption expenditures have slowed down and been bumpy since March 2022, posting average monthly growth of 2.0% (y/y) which is trending below the monthly average growth of 2.2% (y/y) in CY2019 (as of August 2022).





Seasonally adjusted annual rate

Companion to the trends in real personal income in 2020 - 2021, consumer savings began a cycle of increasing and then sharply dropping with each of the federal government's three stimulus checks in March 2020, December 2020, and March 2021 (BEA; Figure 15). In Fall 2021 consumer savings returned to pre-pandemic levels with continued drawdowns thereafter through July 2022, signaling that further slowing in consumer spending is likely.







Figure 15. U.S. Personal Savings, January 2022 – July 2022

Seasonally adjusted

### **Retail Sales**

Retail sales monthly growth was pulled up from negative territory by each of the three federal stimulus infusions after the onset of the pandemic (Census; Figure 16). After the last federal stimulus check of March 2021, monthly growth in retail sales stayed mostly positive except for dipping in response to the Delta and Omicron variant surges in mid- and late-2021. Although monthly retails sales growth started 2022 strong, retail sales monthly growth slowed almost steadily through August 2022 and posted negative growth in July 2022 (-0.4%).





Seasonally adjusted



## D. Consumer and Producer Prices

Inflation has been a global byproduct of the coronavirus pandemic and Russian-Ukrainian war. The dramatic onset of the global pandemic immediately caused supply and demand imbalances and supply chain disruptions in 2020 which continued as consumers and producers cycled through waves of the coronavirus and its variants through 2021. Then as the coronavirus waves were attenuating, the Russian-Ukrainian war in early 2022 caused global shocks to food, energy and raw material supply and prices as noted earlier in this report.

A quick summary of key U.S. consumer price indices:

- The Consumer Price Index for Urban Consumers (CPI-U) is the headline price index that is widely reported in the news and is issued by BLS.
- CPI-U Less Food and Energy, also known as Core Inflation (or Core CPI-U), removes the volatile food and energy components to monitor broader, underlying consumer price activity (BLS).
- The Personal Consumption Expenditure Price Index (PCE Inflation) considers that consumers substitute goods in their market basket in response to higher prices (e.g., switch to another brand or product), and is issued by the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA).
- To assess price trends in the economy, the Federal Reserve utilizes Core PCE Inflation, which removes food and energy components from the PCE Inflation index to reflect the underlying inflation in the economy (BEA and Federal Reserve).
- All four indicators are measured as a percentage change from the same month a year ago.

In August 2022, CPI-U (headline) registered 8.2%, Core CPI was 6.3% and Core PCE Inflation was 4.6%, over double the Fed's longer-run target of 2% for Core PCE Inflation (BLS, BEA; Figure 4).





Seasonally adjusted



The coronavirus pandemic has been a major disrupter in several dimensions. One of the factors initially driving inflation was the substantial shift in consumer purchases between goods and services during the coronavirus pandemic (BEA; Figure 18). Prior to the pandemic, consumers had long spent about two-thirds on services and one-third on goods. With in-person services becoming limited and then less desirable with the pandemic, consumers' spending shifted sharply to goods, initially stocking up on products and food for home-based living and work, and then acquiring many durable goods such as furniture, appliances, and exercise equipment. As a result, the breakdown between spending components reached an approximately 40% goods-to-60% services split in March 2021. This substantial shift in consumer spending challenged goods producers and shippers to meet the elevated consumer demand while dealing with a global pandemic and drove up inflation. Likewise, service industries were challenged by the significantly reduced consumer demand and struggled to pivot to consumers' new preferences.

Since Spring 2021, the breakdown between consumer goods and services expenditures have been gradually returning toward historical proportions. In Spring 2022, consumers strongly shifted back to services with a desire to emerge from the latest Omicron coronavirus variants and cloistered living for over two years. As a result, goods producers found themselves with excess inventory and service businesses struggled to hire staff to meet the increased consumer demand for services, thereby pushing up wages. It remains to be seen where consumers will ultimately land since online ordering and curbside pickup for both goods and services have shown staying power with consumers (BEA, Figure 18).





Seasonally adjusted annual rate

The underlying components of core inflation reflected the swings in consumer spending between goods and services. Core CPI-U for goods (commodities) greatly increased after the pandemic began and Core CPI-U for services declined, reflecting consumers' significant shift from services to goods faster than good manufacturers and retailers could respond. The dramatic uptick in goods prices, along with food and energy price shocks after the Russian invasion of Ukraine, pulled all total price indices up with monthly headline CPI-U, Core CPI-U, and Core



PCE Inflation all recording substantial peaks in March 2022 at 8.6%, 6.4%, and 5.3%, respectively (BLS, BEA; Figures 18 & 19).

With persistent and elevating inflation, the Federal Reserve responded by starting to raise the federal funds rate in March 2022 (reviewed further in the following section) and inflation indicators eventually began gradually trending downward until August 2022 when Core CPI-U posted another monthly increase while headline CPI-U posted another monthly decline.

Figure 19. U.S. Monthly Change in Consumer Goods, Services and Total Prices, January 2000 – August 2022 (%y/y)



Seasonally adjusted

The Producer Price Index, measured as a month-to-month percentage change, also has been impacted by the significant changes in consumers' demand for goods and services during the course of the pandemic (BLS; Figure 20). Prior to the pandemic producers' goods and services monthly price changes generally trended close together. With consumers' dramatic shift to goods early in the pandemic, producers' goods prices experienced major monthly increases as producers were challenged to meet the suddenly elevated demand. With the higher goods demand, producers' monthly services prices generally experienced much lower monthly price increases. Then in Spring 2022 with consumers' dramatic shift back to services, producers' goods prices decreased sharply and producers' services prices began recording monthly increases.



Final 9-28-22

Figure 20. U.S. Monthly Change in Producer Goods, Services and Total Prices, January 2019 – August 2022 (%m/m)



## E. Federal Reserve Actions to Address Inflation

As a backdrop, the Federal Reserve System has two mandates, maximum employment and price stability. There often are tensions between these two mandates, requiring delicate balancing, and the extreme circumstances of a global pandemic presented challenges to both of the Federal Reserve's mandates. The Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) sets monetary policy for the Federal Reserve and is comprised of the Federal Reserve's Board of Governors, the President of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, and a rotation of four of the remaining 11 Presidents of the system's Federal Reserve Banks.

In early 2020 the Federal Reserve, through the FOMC, dropped the federal funds rate, the rate commercial banks borrow and lend excess reserves to each other overnight, to the lowest positive range of 0.00% - 0.25% to fight the extreme circumstances of the pandemic and avoid economic collapse (the Federal Reserve sets a 0.25%-wide range for the federal funds rate). The federal funds rate is the bellwether rate that is charged to banks in the banking system and thereby drives interest rates in the economy.

Through CY2021 there was a prevailing view at the Fed, along with most other central banks worldwide, that the global inflation that had appeared during the pandemic was primarily related to the multiple demand and supply imbalances and shipping disruptions caused by the global pandemic and therefore "transitory," even though PCE Core was well above the Federal Reserve's 2% longer-run target.

However, before global markets had the opportunity to work through the various pandemic effects, the Russian invasion of Ukraine brought substantial supply and price shocks to the food, energy, and raw materials sectors and precipitated much larger monthly increases in inflation worldwide.



In response to persistent and elevating inflation in 2022, the Federal Reserve began raising interest rates in March 2022 from the bottom-basement level that had been established in 2020, seeking to cool demand and break the cycle of inflationary expectations and wage-price increases. Several other central banks worldwide likewise began raising interest rates in 2022 to combat the global inflation. The Federal Reserve initially raised the Federal funds rate 0.25% in March 2020, and then by 0.50% in May 2022 (Table 3). Yet, Core PCE Inflation continued to rise and the Federal Reserve proceed to three, successive 0.75% rate increases in June – September 2022 to obtain a federal funds rate range of 3:00% - 3.25% in September 2022.

Meeting	Fed Funds Lower	Fed Funds Upper	Delta	Average
January	0.00	0.25	0.00	0.125
March	0.25	0.50	0.25	0.375
Мау	0.75	1.00	0.50	0.875
June	1.50	1.75	0.75	1.625
July	2.25	2.50	0.75	2.375
September	3.00	3.25	0.75	3.125

Table 3. U.S. Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) Actions in 2022

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

The Federal Reserve wields another instrument of monetary policy, its balance sheet, which usually receives much less attention than the federal funds rate. The Federal Reserve's assets are comprised mainly of U.S. Treasury notes and bonds, federal agency debt, and agency mortgage-backed securities, and the Fed discloses information on its balance sheet weekly. When the Federal Reserve increases its security holdings, it raises the price of those securities and lowers yields, thereby providing liquidity to the financial markets under a policy also known as "quantitative easing."

In early 2020 to combat the fast and deep economic drop caused by the pandemic's onset, in addition to dropping the federal funds rate, the Federal Reserve began infusing tremendous liquidity into the financial markets by greatly increasing it holdings of securities (Federal Reserve; Figure 21). The Fed quickly expanded its total assets from about \$4 trillion dollars in Fall 2019 to \$6 trillion dollars in early April 2020 and continued to grow its total assets to a record peak of \$8.97 million dollars in April 2022. Companion with the increases in the federal funds rate, the Federal Reserve began to draw down its security holdings systematically and gradually in May 2022 (also known as "policy normalization" or "quantitate tightening"), with its total assets registering at \$8.82 million on September 21, 2022.

Kindly note that the Federal Reserve also pursued quantitative easing and greatly expanded its balance sheet in response to the Great Financial Crisis of 2007-2009. Once recovery from the Great Financial Crisis had taken hold, in December 2015 the Fed began the first policy normalization process to draw down its balance sheet gradually and systematically to avoid shocking the financial markets. However, the coronavirus pandemic arrived while this earlier



policy normalization process was still proceeding, and the Fed reversed course to address the pandemic's extreme economic challenges and avoid an economic collapse.

Figure 21. U.S. Federal Funds Rate and Federal Reserve Total Assets, January 1, 2000 – September 21, 2022



Weekly, not seasonally adjusted

Going forward, the Federal Reserve has strongly indicated its commitment to raising interest rates to defeat inflation and bring Core PCE Inflation back toward its 2% longer-run target. With a tight labor market that is adding approximately 400,000 jobs a month and an unemployment rate back to pre-pandemic levels at this writing, the Fed has some room between its two mandates to wage a strong fight against inflation. Moreover, the Fed has clearly signaled through the public statements of Chairman Jerome Powell and several Federal Reserve Bank Presidents that it is willing to tolerate increased unemployment to defeat inflation.

Chairman Powell has specifically referenced the lessons learned in the 1970's and 1980's regarding the Fed withdrawing rate increases too quickly. Figure 22 below shows the historical relationship between the federal funds rates and CPI-U since 1948. During the 1970's in response to rising inflation, the Fed twice raised interest rates and then soon retreated, and inflation returned stronger each time while the economy stumbled along with waves of downturns and mostly tepid growth. By 1980 inflation was roaring at 13.5% which then required much stronger and continued federal funds rate increases in 1980 – 1981 under former Chairman Paul Volcker's leadership (reaching 20% in January 1981) which precipitated a deep and long recession and high unemployment (reaching 10.8% in 1982), but finally choked back inflation and fostered strong economic growth for several years thereafter. With this historical lesson, Chairman Powell has stated the Fed's commitment to front-loading interest rate increases to bring inflation under control to avoid repeated downturns interwoven with tepid growth.

While many analysts regard the current global inflation as being generated mostly from the supply side, the Federal Reserve only has tools directed toward cooling consumer and business demand, which operate at a lag. As such, downward revisions to forecasts and recessionary projections have grown throughout the federal funds rate increases in 2022. Notably, the Federal



Reserve has signaled the expectation of a significant economic slowdown in its most recent Summary of Economic Projections with a median forecast of only 0.2% growth in real GDP overall in 2022 and 1.2% growth in 2023, and the official unemployment rate rising to 4.4% in 2023 and 2024 from 3.7% in August 2022 (Federal Reserve, September 21, 2022).

Figure 22. U.S. Federal Funds Rate and Consumer Price Index-Urban, January 1, 1948 – September 21, 2022



## F. Real Estate Market Trends

Real estate market activity comprises about 40% of U.S. private fixed investment and is closely monitored as a major component of GDP (BEA). This section will review residential and nonresidential real estate trends.

## **Residential Trends**

The housing market is one of the most rate-sensitive sectors. With mortgage rates significantly increasing in 2022 in response to the Federal Reserve rate increases, the real estate market has experienced declining new and existing home sales (Census, HUD, National Association of Realtors (NAR); Figures 23 and 24) after experiencing substantial growth in 2020-2021, with almost flat existing home sales in August 2022 likely in response to a small, short-lived reduction in mortgage rates that month. The monthly supply of housing likewise mostly increased in 2022 after getting tightly squeezed in 2020 - 2021, except the monthly supply for existing homes remained flat in August (Figures 25 - 26).

Incidentally, a byproduct of declining home sales in 2022 has been increased rental housing prices as potential home buyers chose to continue to rent after foregoing home purchases with rising mortgage rates, thereby increasing the demand for rental housing. Relatedly, the shelter component of inflation experienced companion increases and pushed up core inflation readings in 2022 (BLS).





### Figure 23. U.S. New Home Sales, January 2000 – July 2022



## Figure 24. U.S. Existing Home Sales, August 2019 – August 2022



Seasonally adjusted annual rate





Figure 25. U.S. New Homes Monthly Supply, January 2000 – July 2022

Seasonally adjusted

Figure 26. U.S. Existing Homes Monthly Supply, August 2021 – August 2022



Not seasonally adjusted

Despite higher mortgage rates and declining home sales, the U.S. Federal Housing Finance Agency's (FHFA) House Price Index (HPI) for all single-family transactions (including refinancings) continued its steep rise through Q2:2022. The HPI began growing sharply in 2020 when the demand for housing outstripped the available inventory.

Final 9-28-22





Figure 27. U.S. House Price Index (Single-Family), Q1:2000 – Q2:2022 (%y/y)

All single-family transactions; not seasonally adjusted

Similarly, median home prices were on an upward trajectory through mid-2022 after which the median price for existing homes decreased and the median price for new homes had a big dip in June 2022 and then bounced up slightly in July 2022 (Census, HUD, NAR; Figures 28 and 29).





Not seasonally adjusted





Figure 29. U.S. Existing Home Median Sale Price, August 2021 – August 2022

After a two-month drop at the onset of the coronavirus pandemic, new residential housing permits and starts began increasing in May 2020 and maintained an upward trajectory through April 2022 after which increasing mortgage rates slowed down new housing activity through July 2022 (Census, HUD; Figure 30). New housing starts bounced up in August 2022 while new permits continued to decline. Monthly new housing completions remained steady from Summer 2020 through September 2022, thereby maintaining employment among the trades for the near-term.







## Nonresidential Trends

Nonresidential construction spending dropped in March at the onset of the coronavirus pandemic and mostly continued downward through Summer 2021, and then began mostly rising in July 2021 through July 2022. Continued close monitoring of this sector is warranted to detect the

Not seasonally adjusted



Final 9-28-22

effects of the Fed's commitment to continue raising rates to bring inflation down (Census; Figure 31).



Figure 31. U.S. Nonresidential Construction Spending, January 2002 – July 2006

## G. Business Activity

Beyond housing, additional elements of business activity were reviewed, including industrial production, purchasing managers' indices, and the business confidence index.

## Industrial Production

Monthly changes in U.S. industrial production declined precipitously at the beginning of the pandemic, and began clawing back in June 2020 through gradually diminishing monthly declines to positive monthly growth in March 2021 and peaking in April 2021 at 16.6% (y/y). The monthly growth in industrial production fluctuated and gradually declined during May 2021 to August 2022, with 3.7% (y/y) growth in August 2020.

Seasonally adjusted annual rate





Figure 32. U.S. Industrial Production, January 2000 – August 2022 (%y/y)

-----

### Purchasing Managers' Index

Reports from the Institute of Supply Management (ISM) provide a current and forward view of economic activity in the manufacturing and service sectors through monthly surveys of purchasing executives across numerous industries.

As a reflection of the current mixed signals in the economy, in August 2022 ISM reported that economic activity grew in both the manufacturing and service sectors in August 2022 for the 27<sup>th</sup> consecutive month of growth (Manufacturing Purchasing Managers' Index (PMI) and Services PMI, August 2022). ISM further indicated that growth increased at a slightly faster rate in the services sector, companion to consumers' shift back to services earlier this year as noted earlier in this report. New orders and employment expanded in both sectors in August 2022 and production and backlogs were growing, according to ISM. Regarding inputs, ISM reported some easing in supplier delivery delays and the ability to grow raw materials inventories in 2022, along with prices increasing at a slower rate. Exports were reported as contracting in August 2022 with imports growing (ISM PMI, August 2022).

Supply chain challenges continued to be a prevailing concern across different industries based on purchasing executive comments in August 2022, along with inflation, hiring, softening demand, and fear of customer pulling back on orders (cancelling or delaying) (ISM PMI, August 2022).

These generally encouraging reports for the manufacturing and services sectors likely provided the Federal Reserve policymakers some room to institute the third, consecutive 0.75% increase in the federal funds rate at their September 2022 FOMC meeting.



## **Business Confidence**

Another indicator used to assess future developments in the industry sector is the U.S. business confidence index issued by OECD. Similar to the ISM-PMI indices, the U.S. business confidence index is based on industry surveys regarding manufacturing production, orders and stocks of finished goods (OECD). As another sign of the current mixed economic signals, the U.S. business confidence index for manufacturing steadily declined during November 2021 to August 2022, crossing into negative territory in July 2022 (OECD, Figure 33).

These overall mixed signals in the business sector augur the potential approach of an inflection point in the economy and require close monitoring going forward for early warning signals of further economic slowdown.



Figure 33. U. S. Business Confidence Index: Manufacturing, January 2017 – August 2022

Source: Organisation of Economic Co-operation and Development; amplitude adjusted

## H. U.S. Leading Indicator

As a data powerhouse, OECD also releases a leading economic index for the U.S based on a range of standard U.S government, industry and financial market indicators that gauge consumer, housing and industrial activity and developments. Monthly changes in the leading indicator index dropped dramatically at the beginning of the pandemic, then began a steep ascent in May 2020, moving through diminishing monthly declines and crossing into positive monthly growth in December 2020 before peaking in April 2021 with 9.2% (y/y) monthly growth. The monthly rate of growth in the leading indicator index steadily slowed after June 2021, crossing into negative territory in February 2022, and registered seven consecutive months of negative growth as of August 2022 (OECD; Figure 34). The Conference Board also develops its own proprietary





Leading Economic Indicator and similarly reported the sixth month of consecutive declines in its index in September 2022 (Conference Board, September 22, 2022).

These two leading indicator indices signal headwinds ahead and mounting downside risks for the U.S. economy.

Figure 34. U.S. Leading Economic Indicator Index (%y/y), January 2000 to August 2008



Amplified adjusted; seasonally adjusted

## I. National Economic Outlook

Looking forward to the remainder of 2022 and 2023, the outlook is for a slowing economy with the risk of a recession in late 2022 or early 2023, as depicted in Table 1 in Section III above. As a signal of the wide bands of uncertainty, there are wide ranges of projections in real GDP growth in the forecasts just since June 2022. At this writing prominent forecasts since June 2022 project overall U.S. real GDP growth in 2022 at 0.2% to 2.5%, and a wider range of -0.2% to 2.4% in 2023, with more recent forecasts of the late summer generally trending decidedly lower than the projections issued at the beginning of the summer. Looking at the later prominent forecasts of August and September 2022, U.S. real GDP growth is projected at 0.2% to 1.6% in 2022, and -0.2% to 1.6% in 2023, compared to 5.7% growth in U.S. real GDP in 2021.

Additional revisions are expected in most U.S. forecasts since the Federal Reserve again revised its outlook in its quarterly forecast of September 21, 2022, dropping its median forecast for real GDP growth to 0.2% for 2022 and 1.2% for 2023, which are 1.5% and 0.2% lower than its June 2022 forecast, respectively.

The Federal Reserve also signaled its commitment to raise rates to combat inflation and to tolerate increased unemployment in the process. On September 21, 2022, the Federal Reserve also revised its median forecasts upward for the federal funds rate, to 4.4% for 2022, 4.6% for 2023, and 3.9% for 2024, signaling its commitment for continued increases in the federal funds rate through next year to beat inflation. For the unemployment rate (official U-3 rate), the Fed increased its forecast to 3.8% for 2022 and to 4.4% for both 2023 and 2024, as compared to the



official unemployment rate of 3.7% in August 2022. Since increases in the federal funds rate take time to dampen demand, the Federal Reserve is signaling its willingness to withstand higher unemployment to break inflation.

Prior to the Federal Reserve's revised quarterly forecast of September 21, 2022, there were a wide range of opinions of the Federal Reserve's ability to tame high inflation and also avoid a recession. With the Fed's recent forecast revision projecting 0.2% real GDP growth in 2022, early reactions of economic investors, forecasters, and business leaders reflect an increased expectation of a recession in late 2022 or early 2023.

Even before the Fed's recent rate increase and quarterly forecast revision, the Conference Board, KPMG Economics, and Wells Fargo Economics all forecasted real consumer spending to decline to -0.1% to 0.9% in 2023 along with higher unemployment next year. Another round of forecast revisions by these and other forecasters is expected.

The tightness in the labor market across many industries is expected to cushion any increases in unemployment with an economic slowdown, due to ongoing labor shortages. While the current U.S. economic outlook generally anticipates a shallow and brief slowdown, a longer or deeper downturn would exert pressure on jobs and employment levels.

The future U.S. economic outlook has many headwinds and wide bands of uncertainty, including inflation, interest rates, the housing market, cooling consumer and business demand, government infrastructure spending, continued supply challenges, shifting global trade flows, and continued geopolitical risks and impacts (such as supply and price shocks). Close monitoring will be required to detect small and/or large shifts in any of these multiple factors to gather early warnings in order to deftly detect, adapt and adjust.

## V. Virginia Economic Overview and Outlook

This section provides a detailed analysis of the Virginia economy and its relationship to the national economy, including overall economic growth, labor market trends, and consumer and housing activity.

## A. Virginia's Economic Growth Overall

Historically, Virginia's real GDP growth has closely followed that for the nation, although Virginia initially had a slower recovery from the pandemic (BEA; Figure 35).







#### Figure 35. U.S. and Virginia GDP, Q1:2006 to Q2:2022



To provide a broad analysis of the state's labor market trends, Virginia's job, employment, unemployment, hourly wages, and labor force participation are reviewed.

Virginia's nonfarm payroll job trends have generally followed those of the nation historically (BLS; Figure 36). While the U.S. reached and exceeded its pre-pandemic level of nonfarm payroll jobs in August 2022, Virginia almost but had not quite fully recovered all of the jobs lost in the state since the pandemic by August 2022 (shy about 7,000 jobs in August 2022).



Figure 36. Total Nonfarm Payroll Jobs: U.S. & Virginia January 2000 to August 2022

Establishment survey; seasonally adjusted

Virginia's monthly job growth trended below that for the nation in most months during August 2021– January 2022, actually declining in September 2021and January 2022 (BLS; Figure 37).



The pattern improved during February 2022 – August 2022, with Virginia's monthly job growth equal to or greater than that for the nation in five of those seven months (BLS; Figure 37).



Figure 37. Monthly Change in Jobs: U.S. and Virginia, August 2021 – August 2022

Virginia's employment level has generally followed national trends, with Virginia's employment dropping less steeply during the Great Financial Crisis. However, during the pandemic Virginia's employment dropped for a longer period and recovered more slowly through Q2:2022 (BLS household survey; Figure 38). By Q2:2022 the U.S. had achieved 99.7% of its employment level during Q4:2019, just before the pandemic, while Virginia's employment level in Q2:2022 was only 97.4% of its employment level in the full quarter preceding the pandemic.





Household survey; not seasonally adjusted

Virginia's official unemployment rate has been historically lower than the corresponding national unemployment rate and has followed the same general trends. This pattern continued

Establishment survey; seasonally adjusted



through the pandemic and Virginia's unemployment rate returned to pre-pandemic levels in July 2022 and registered 2.6% in August 2022 as compared to a 3.7% unemployment rate for the U.S. (BLS household survey; Figure 39).

Figure 39. Unemployment Rate (U-3 Official Rate): U.S. and Virginia, January 2000 – August 2022



Household survey; seasonally adjusted

BLS also provides quarterly calculations of alternative measures of labor underutilization for states. As noted in Section IV.B. above, the BLS U-6 unemployment rate is a fuller measure of labor underutilization, incorporating persons marginally attached to the labor force and persons settling for part-time schedules for economic reasons in addition to those "officially" unemployed (laid off and awaiting recall or actively looked for work in the preceding four weeks). Similar to the national experience, Virginia's U-6 unemployment rate jumped during the Great Financial Crisis widening the distance between U-3 and U-6 (BLS household survey; Figure 40). However, unlike at the national level, the wider distance between U-3 and U-6 persisted through 2019 in Virginia whereas the corresponding distance narrowed at the national level, signaling that employed persons displaced during the Great Financial Crisis did not regain employment in Virginia at the same pace as at the national level.

With the pandemic Virginia's U-6 unemployment rate grew higher and longer than the state's official U-3 unemployment rate, not peaking until Q1:2021, whereas the U-3 unemployment rate peaked in the quarter immediately following the pandemic's onset (Q2:2020) (BLS household survey; Figure 40). By Q2:2022 Virginia's U-6 unemployment rate declined to 6.3% and returned to its pre-pandemic level, approximately 3.5% higher than U-3 that quarter which has been the general historical spread between the unemployment rates after the Great Financial Crisis.

From a policy perspective, it is prudent to closely monitor U-6 unemployment and civilian labor force statistics along with U-3 unemployment rates to gain a fuller picture of employment in the civilian population and bring light to persons whom the economy may have left behind.



Figure 40. Unemployment Rate: Virginia BLS U-3 (Official Rate) and BLS U-6, Q4:2003 – Q2:2022



Household survey; not seasonally adjusted

Virginia's hourly wages have historically been higher than those for the nation and have generally followed the national pattern of increase during January 2007 – August 2022 (BLS and Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis; Figure 41).





Not seasonally adjusted

Virginia's labor force participation rate generally was consistently higher than that of the nation before the pandemic, but the state's labor force participation rate fell deeper and longer than the nation's after the pandemic. While still higher, in August 2022 the difference had narrowed between Virginia's labor force participation rate (63.7%) and that for the U.S. (62.4%) (BLS household survey; Figure 42).


A recent study by the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond (Richmond Fed) identified that Virginia's lower labor force participation is primarily due to men over 65 leaving the work force in 2019 - 2021 (whereas Maryland's lagging labor force participation was mainly due to prime working age women leaving the work force) (Richmond Fed, September 23, 2022). Digging deeper into underlying data and trends helps to inform effective policy interventions, such as those to encourage older workers to continue working or to draw younger people.



Figure 42. Labor Force Participation: U.S. and Virginia January 2010 to August 2022

## C. Virginia's Consumer Activity

Virginia's real per capita personal income has been historically higher than that of the U.S. and followed the national pattern of increasing during 2008 – 2020 (BEA; Figure 43).

In terms of recent growth, the Richmond Fed reported that in Q1:2022 Virginia's real personal income growth declined -0.36% compared to the preceding quarter and -7.69% compared to the same period the preceding year, similar to the national pattern (Richmond Fed; September 2022).





Figure 43. Real Per Capita Personal Income: U.S. and Virginia 2008 - 2020

Not seasonally adjusted

Virginia's consumer spending and retail trade closely mirrored national trends through 2020 based on available data (BEA; Figures 44 and 45).





Not seasonally adjusted





#### Figure 45. Retail Trade: U.S. and Virginia Q4:2005 – Q1:2022



After initially declining at the beginning of the pandemic, existing home sales grew monthly at a strong pace during June 2020 – May 2021, and generally declined monthly during July 2021 – July 2022 (Virginia Association of Realtors; Figure 46).



Figure 46. Existing Home Sales: Virginia January 2020 – July 2022 (%y/y)

Source: Virginia Association of Realtors

Despite the slowdown in existing home sales since mid-2021, Virginia's House Price Index for all single-family transactions posted monthly increases through July 2022, similar to the national trend (FHFA; Figure 47).



Final 9-28-22





All single-family transactions; not seasonally adjusted

New residential building permits in Virginia continued a generally upward trend in July 2022, posting a 2.6% monthly gain to 3,556 units, up 19.61% over the same period a year ago (Census: Figure 48).





Seasonally adjusted



# E. Virginia's Economic Outlook

In the two years after the economy first emerged from the pandemic's initial hammer to the world, firms were primarily concerned with enduring supply chain disruptions, high inflation, and record levels of job openings and quits.

However, in Summer 2022 the Richmond Fed's Fifth District and national business surveys indicated that firms' and CFOs' growing concerns about the macroeconomic health of the economy, softening demand, and recession risks had overtaken continuing concerns about supply chain challenges and variable input costs, while concerns about the ability to hire and retain workers stayed unchanged (Richmond Fed, June 29, 2022, and September 1, 2022).

Given that Virginia's key economic indicators generally follow the patterns of the related national indicators, albeit sometimes at different levels, the national economic outlook is a relevant barometer for the state's economic outlook. Headwinds to the state's economic outlook overlap those of the national economy: uncertainties regarding inflation, interest rates, the housing market, declining real personal income, cooling consumer and business demand, continuing supply challenges, shifting trade flows, and continued geopolitical risks and impacts (such as supply and price shocks).

# VI. Albemarle County, Virginia Economic Overview and Outlook

This section provides a detailed analysis of several components of the economy of Albemarle County, Virginia, including overall economic growth, labor market trends, and consumer, housing and business activity.

#### A. Overall Economic Growth in Albemarle County, Virginia

BEA data is available for annual real GDP growth in Albemarle County + Charlottesville, Virginia, for the period of 2002 to 2020, which has been mapped along with similar national and state data for 2000-2021. As seen in Figure 49 below, Albemarle County + Charlottesville's growth in annual Real GDP generally outpaced the corresponding growth rates for the U.S. and/or Virginia in many years during the period of 2002-2018 and placed below the U.S. and Virginia growth rates in 2019-2020 (BEA).





Figure 49. GDP: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2000-2021 (%y/y)

Current dollars; not seasonally adjusted

### B. Labor Market Trends in Albemarle County, Virginia

Albemarle County historically has had a strong job market with annual growth in employment levels (employed persons) equal to or greater than the corresponding growth in the state, except for the period immediately following the Great Financial Crisis and during the initial period of the recent pandemic (BLS household survey and Virginia Employment Commission, Figures 50 and 51).





Household survey; not seasonally adjusted









Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics and Virginia Employment Commission; household survey; not seasonally adjusted

Similarly, Albemarle County's unemployment rate (U-3 official rate) has consistently registered below both the national and state unemployment rates since 2002, a pattern that continued through the Great Financial Crisis and the recent pandemic. Only non-seasonally adjusted data is available for counties and comparable data was used for consistent comparison with the state and nation. In July 2022, Albemarle County's official unemployment rate was 2.7% as compared to 2.9% for Virginia and 3.8% for the U.S. (BLS household survey; not seasonally adjusted; Figure 52). Notably, the difference between Albemarle County's U-3 unemployment rate and those of the nation and state have narrowed in recent years. Also, the unemployment rates for Virginia and the U.S. increased slightly in August 2022, however, county unemployment data for that month had not yet been released as of this writing.



Figure 52. Unemployment Rate: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, January 2000 – August 2022



Household survey; not seasonally adjusted

BLS average hourly earnings data for the Charlottesville, Virginia Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) paint a slightly different picture in comparison to the state and nation (see Table 15 in the Appendix for the counties and cities within selected Virginia MSAs as delineated by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget and reported by the U.S. Census Bureau). While hourly wages in Virginia were consistently higher than those nationally during 2007 - 2021, hourly wages for the Charlottesville, Virginia MSA switched from posting equal to or higher than both state and national levels during 2007 - 2012 to posting distinctly below both levels during 2013 - 2021. After falling consistently during 2012 - 2015, hourly wages in the Charlottesville, Virginia MSA segan steady annual increases in 2016 - 2021 but still remained below the hourly wages for both Virginia and the U.S. in 2021 (BLS establishment survey; Figure 53)

Figure 53. Average Hourly Earnings: U.S., Virginia, and Charlottesville, Virginia MSA, January 2007 – August 2021



Establishment survey; not seasonally adjusted



From a regional perspective, different historical and recent patterns in hourly wages are revealed for the Charlottesville, Staunton, Harrisonburg, and Richmond MSAs as reported by BLS (BLS establishment survey; Figure 54). During 2000 – early 2013, the hourly wages in the Charlottesville MSA generally trended above those of the Staunton, Harrisonburg, and Richmond MSA's, after which the hourly wages in the Richmond MSA registered the highest among these four MSAs with the Charlottesville MSA ranking second.

A deeper look reveals that the hourly wages in the Charlottesville and Staunton MSAs turned downward in 2012 and declined through 2015 after which both hourly wages began increasing again and continued through 2019. With the pandemic's appearance in early 2020, the hourly wages of the Charlottesville and Staunton MSAs have generally fluctuated up and down with those of the Charlottesville MSA experiencing longer and higher upswings (BLS establishment survey; Figure 54).

Before the pandemic the hourly wage patterns of the Harrisonburg and Richmond MSAs did not experience a dip in 2012 – 2015 and maintained an upward trajectory during that period and beyond until stalling just before the pandemic in 2019. During 2015 – 2019, the hourly wages in the Harrisonburg MSA consistently exceeded those in the Staunton MSA and exceeded those in the Charlottesville MSA in a few months. In 2019 the Staunton MSA hourly wages overtook those in the Harrisonburg MSA and have remained higher through August 2022 (BLS establishment survey; Figure 54).

After dipping in 2019 – early 2020, the Richmond MSA's hourly wages experienced a generally upward path through August 2022 (BLS establishment survey; Figure 54).

Figure 54. Average Hourly Earnings: Charlottesville, Staunton-Waynesboro, Harrisonburg, and Richmond, Virginia MSAs, January 2007 – August 2021



Establishment survey; not seasonally adjusted

During 2011 - 2021, Albemarle County's labor force participation rate was distinctly higher than the corresponding rates for Virginia and the U.S., except for the period of 2017 - 2018 (BLS household survey, Virginia Employment Commission (VEC); Figure 55). The labor force



participation rate reflects the percentage of the population that is either employed or unemployed. Albemarle County's higher labor force participation rate indicates the County had a greater portion of its population in the labor force than the state or nation for all but two years during 2011 - 2021. The BLS labor force calculation is comprised of those employed and those officially classified as unemployed. The BLS classifies persons as unemployed if they are laid off and awaiting recall or have actively looked for work in the last four weeks. The BLS labor force calculation excludes those persons that are not employed or officially classified as unemployed.

Figure 55. Labor Force Participation Rate: U.S., Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2010 – 2021



Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics and Virginia Employment Commission; household survey; seasonally adjusted/

The U.S. Census Bureau annually issues the American Community Survey (ACS) with 1-year and 5-year estimates of numerous social, economic, housing, and demographic data for geographic areas with populations over 65,000 (only 5-year estimates are issued for smaller geographic areas). The ACS is based on extensive address-based (household) surveys and the 5-year estimates have higher statistical reliability since they include data collected over a longer period (60 months). The annual ACS 5-year estimates contain overlapping periods, and the latest 5-year estimates are for the period of 2016-2020 (Census).

The ACS reports employment status information as part of its rich suite of data. In 2016-2020 the ACS indicated that 59.4% of Albemarle County's residents were employed, 38.2% were not in the labor force, 2.1% were unemployed and 0.3% were in the Armed Forces. During this five-year period, Albemarle County had a lower unemployment rate among its residents as compared to the state and nation, a lower proportion of its residents in the labor force as compared to the state and nation, and the proportion of its residents employed was on par with the nation but below that for the state (Census; Table 4).



Albemarle County's higher percentage of persons 65 and older in its population (19.7%) in 2020 as compared to the state (16.3%) and nation (16.8%) is one possible explanation for its lower proportion of residents in the labor force Albemarle County in 2016-2020 (Census). Additional demographic analysis could shed further insight on this finding.

Table 4. Employment Status as a Percent of Population 16 and Older, U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2016-2020

Employment Status as a Pe	rcent of Popul	ation 16 and	Older	
	United States	Virginia	Albemarle County, VA	
Population 16 years and over	261,649,873	6,849,454	89,459	
In labor force	63.4%	65.8%	61.8%	
Civilian labor force	63.0%	64.0%	61.5%	
Employed	59.6%	61.0%	59.4%	
Unemployed	3.4%	3.0%	2.1%	
Armed Forces	0.4%	1.8%	0.3%	
Not in labor force	36.6%	34.2%	38.2%	

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimates 2016-2020

The ACS also looks at employment in broad industry groups based on the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS), combining some NAICS 2-digit industry codes together. Based on the ACS data for 2016-2020, the top five industries of employment for Albemarle County's civilian residents (16 and over) were: educational services, and health care and social assistance (34.7%); professional, scientific, and management, and administrative and waste management services (15.2%); arts, entertainment, and recreation, and accommodation and food services, (9.4%); retail trade (8.1%), and finance and insurance, and real estate and rental and leasing (6.1%) (Census; Table 5).

In reviewing comparable Virginia ACS data, two industries had notably higher proportions of Albemarle County's resident employment as compared to the state: educational services, and health care and social assistance (34.7% vs. 22.2% for Virginia); and agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining (1.6% vs. 0.8% for Virginia). Moreover, four industries had notably lower proportions of Albemarle County's resident employment as compared to the state: public administration (5.1% vs. 8.8% for Virginia); manufacturing (4.0% vs. 7.1% for Virginia); retail trade (8.1% vs. 10.1% for Virginia); and transportation and warehousing, and utilities (2.6% vs. 4.5% for Virginia) (Census; Table 5).



Table 5.	Employment by Industry:	U.S.,	, Virginia,	and	Albemarle	County,	Virginia,	2016-
2020								

Industry	United States (%)	Virginia (%)	Albemarle County, Virginia (%)
Civilian employed population 16 years and over	155,888,980	4,179,739	53,176
Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining	1.7%	0.8%	1.6%
Construction	6.7%	6.6%	5.3%
Manufacturing	10.0%	7.1%	4.0%
Wholesale trade	2.5%	1.8%	1.1%
Retail trade	11.0%	10.1%	8.1%
Transportation and warehousing, and utilities	5.5%	4.5%	2.6%
Information	2.0%	1.9%	1.2%
Finance and insurance, and real estate and rental and leasing	6.6%	6.3%	6.1%
Professional, scientific, and management, and administrative and waste management services	11.7%	15.9%	15.2%
Educational services, and health care and social assistance	23.3%	22.2%	34.7%
Arts, entertainment, and recreation, and accommodation and food services			
	9.4%	8.7%	9.4%
Other services, except public administration	4.8%	5.3%	5.5%
Public administration	4.7%	8.8%	5.1%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimates 2016-2020.

## C. Consumer Activity in Albemarle County, Virginia

Real per capita personal income is defined as the total personal income of the residents of a given area divided by its total population (BEA) and can be used to generally gauge the standard of living in an area. It is important to note that real per capita personal income does not consider the distribution of income across members or income inequality within a geographic area since it is based only on total real personal income and total population (aggregate figures). Yet, as a per



person metric, real per capita personal income can be compared across geographic areas at a given point in time.

The real per capita personal income in the Charlottesville, Virginia MSA trended above that for Virginia and the U.S. in 2008 – 2020, indicating an overall higher standard of living in the Charlottesville MSA (BEA; Figure 56). The indicator increased steadily since 2013 for the Charlottesville MSA, and the state and nation. Notably, while Virginia's real per capita personal income has exceeded that for the U.S. by a relatively constant amount since 2013, the Charlottesville MSA's real per capita personal income increased more sharply to \$65,256 in 2020, as compared to \$55,333 for Virginia and \$53,504 for the U.S. that year.

Figure 56. Real Per Capital Personal Income: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2008 – 2020



Not seasonally adjusted

#### D. Housing Activity in Albemarle County, Virginia

Housing market activity in Albemarle County has cooled in 2022 as compared to the high activity of mid-2020 through 2021 just as it has in the state and nation. Monthly changes in existing home sales in Albemarle County have generally followed Virginia's overall pattern. After dropping during the early months of the pandemic, Albemarle County's monthly home sales generally increased at an increasing pace through June 2021 (except for the winter months) after which the monthly sales growth slowed and then turned negative as compared to the prior year (Virginia Association of Realtors; Figure 57).







Source: Virginia Association of Realtors

To examine home prices, the relationship between the House Price Index (HPI) for Albemarle County and the Charlottesville MSA were examined to gain access to more recent data published for the MSAs. Since changes in the HPI for Albemarle County and the Charlottesville MSA tracked closely during 2000 - 2021, the Charlottesville MSA is used for comparisons with the state, nation, and regional communities in order to examine data through June 2022 (see Figure 73 in the Appendix).

Despite declining home sales thus far in 2022 (year-over-year), the House Price Index (HPI) for all single-family transactions continued to strongly increase through Q2:2022 in the Charlottesville, Virginia MSA after beginning a sharp ascent in mid-2020, similar to the state and nation (FHFA; Figure 58). In Q2:2022 the HPI for the Charlottesville MSA increased 21.7% (y/y), noticeably steeper than Virginia's 18.0% (y/y) increase in the same quarter.



Figure 58. House Price Index (Single-Family): U.S., Virginia, and Charlottesville, Virginia MSA, Q1:2000 – Q2:2022 (%y/y)



Not seasonally adjusted

Looking regionally, changes in the House Price Index in the Staunton, Harrisonburg and Richmond MSAs followed similar patterns to that of the Charlottesville, Virginia MSA, likewise experiencing steady and sharp increases from mid-2020 to mid-2022. Again, the steep HPI increase in Q2:2022 for the Charlottesville MSA (21.7% y/y) outranked those for the Staunton MSA (20.9%), Harrisonburg MSA (18.8%), and Richmond MSA (20.4%) during that quarter (FHFA; Figure 59).

Figure 59. House Price Index (Single-Family): Charlottesville, Staunton, Harrisonburg, and Richmond, Virginia MSAs, Q1:2000 – Q2:2022 (%y/y)



As another barometer of housing activity, there are two main observations regarding the median listing price per square feet in Albemarle County, Virginia. This metric has been consistently higher in Albemarle County than those for the state, nation and surrounding MSAs since 2016,



and this metric began to decline in Spring 2022 companion with declining home sales, after sharply rising in Spring 2020 – Spring 2022 (Realtor.com; Figures 60 and 61).

The median listing price per square feet for homes in Albemarle County has been distinctly above those for the state and nation since 2016, rising sharply between May 2020 to March 2022 (Realtor.com; Figure 60). Although final prices for all single-family transactions continued to increase through mid-2022, the median listing price per square feet began declining in Albemarle County in April 2022 through August 2022. While remaining below the median listing price per square feet for Albemarle County, the corresponding metrics for the state and nation also rose sharply starting in May 2020, peaking in June 2022, and then declining in July - August 2022. In August 2022 Realtor.com reported Albemarle County's median listing price per square feet as \$240, as compared to \$207 for Virginia and \$222 for the U.S.

Figure 60. Median Listing Price per Square Foot: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, July 2016 – August 2022



Not seasonally adjusted

Looking at the surrounding MSAs (equivalent to Core-Based Statistical Areas (CBSAs) for the selected MSAs), the median listing price per square feet in Albemarle County was recorded by Realtor.com as higher than those for the Charlottesville, Staunton, Harrisonburg, and Richmond MSAs from 2016 through August 2022 (Realtor.com; Figure 61). Despite declining after April 2022, Albemarle County's median listing price per square feet (\$240) in August 2022 was still slightly higher than that for the Charlottesville MSA (\$238) and exceeded the comparable metrics for the Staunton MSA (\$180), Harrisonburg MSA (\$179) and Richmond MSA (\$198) at that time.



Figure 61. Median Listing Price per Square Foot: Albemarle County, Virginia, and Charlottesville, Staunton, Harrisonburg, and Richmond, Virginia MSAs, July 2016 – August 2022



### E. Business Activity in Albemarle County, Virginia

#### **County Business Patterns**

Through its County Business Patterns (CBP) program, the U.S. Census Bureau provides annual economic data by industry for the U.S., states, counties, MSAs, zip codes and Congressional Districts. The annual CBP series provides the number of establishments, industry classification, employment during the week of March 12<sup>th</sup>, and first quarter and annual payroll amounts, and is released approximately 16 months after the reference year (Census). This establishment-based data provides a useful profile of the businesses and people who work in a community, which adds an additional perspective beyond the U.S. Census Bureau's household-based ACS survey of the people who reside in a community.

Albemarle County's business community profile was examined in terms of establishments, employees and payroll for each industry sector. Industry 2-digit level NAICS classifications were used for the analysis whereas the ACS (household survey) combined some industry sectors.

Based on the CBP data for 2020, the top five 2-digit NAICS industries with the largest proportion of establishments in Albemarle County were: professional, scientific, and technical services (14.4%), health care and social assistance (13.3%), retail trade (12.1%), construction (10.0%), and other services (except public administration) (9.0%). These five industries accounted for 59% of the total business establishments in Albemarle County (Census; Table 6).

In terms of payroll jobs, the CBP 2020 reports that the top five 2-digit NAICS industries with the largest proportion of payroll employees in Albemarle County were: health care and social assistance (21.4%), retail trade (15.5%), accommodation and food service (11.7%), professional,



scientific, and technical services (11.1%), and manufacturing (6.5%). These five industries accounted for 66% of the total jobs in Albemarle County in 2020 (Census; Table 6).

In terms of annual payroll, the CBP 2020 reports that the top six 2-digit NAICS industries with the largest total annual payrolls were: (1) health care and social assistance, (2) professional, scientific, and technical services, (3) finance and insurance, (4) retail trade, (5) manufacturing, and (6) construction. These six industries accounted for 78% of the aggregate total annual payrolls in Albemarle County in 2020 (Census; Table 6).

As compared to Virginia CBP 2020 data, a few key differences emerge in Albemarle County's business profile in 2020:

- Health care and social assistance accounted for a higher proportion of total business establishments, payroll jobs, and annual payroll in Albemarle County as compared to the state.
- Despite providing the second largest annual payroll in the county in 2020, professional, scientific, and technical services accounted for a lower proportion of total business establishments, payroll jobs, and annual payroll in Albemarle County as compared to the state.
- Finance and insurance accounted for a higher proportion of total business establishments, payroll jobs, and annual payroll in Albemarle County as compared to the state.
- Retail trade accounted for a higher proportion of payroll jobs and annual payroll in Albemarle County as compared to the state, while accounting for about the same proportion of business establishments in the county in 2020 (Census; Table 6).



2017				Virginia			Albemarle County, Virginia				
NAICS	Meaning of NAICS code	Establis	hments	Emplo	yees	Annual	Establis	hments	Emplo	yees	Annual
code		Number	Percent	Number	Percent	payroll (\$1,000)	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	payroll (\$1,000)
00	Total for all sectors	204,131	100.0%	3,483,867	100.0%	202,239,454	2,838	100.0%	42,631	100.0%	2,203,782
11	Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting	624	0.3%	4,298	0.1%	258,760	20	0.7%	126	0.3%	4,098
21	Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction	227	0.1%	5,182	0.1%	356,682	6	0.2%	57	0.1%	4,152
22	Utilities	373	0.2%	14,471	0.4%	1,734,759	1	-	-	-	-
23	Construction	20,200	9.9%	197,430	5.7%	11,856,724	284	10.0%	2,324	5.5%	114,695
31-33	Manufacturing	4,906	2.4%	241,221	6.9%	14,231,854	86	3.0%	2,780	6.5%	160,789
42	Wholesale trade	6,695	3.3%	104,750	3.0%	7,800,469	64	2.3%	412	1.0%	24,206
44-45	Retail trade	26,064	12.8%	428,644	12.3%	12,394,350	343	12.1%	6,617	15.5%	223,214
48-49	Transportation and warehousing	5,477	2.7%	120,952	3.5%	6,013,120	51	1.8%	787	1.8%	25,992
51	Information	3,964	1.9%	97,012	2.8%	10,929,830	65	2.3%	907	2.1%	61,361
52	Finance and insurance	11,311	5.5%	168,520	4.8%	17,988,347	192	6.8%	2,273	5.3%	228,091
53	Real estate and rental and leasing	10,752	5.3%	56,906	1.6%	3,463,901	187	6.6%	962	2.3%	47,673
54	Professional, scientific, and technical services	31,659	15.5%	509,368	14.6%	50,900,558	410	14.4%	4,746	11.1%	363,774
55	Management of companies and enterprises	1,292	0.6%	82,124	2.4%	8,446,036	21	0.7%	433	1.0%	30,527

# Table 6. Establishments, Employees and Annual Payroll by Industry: Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia 2020



#### Final 9-28-22

50	Administrative and support and waste management and remediation	44.005	5 504	000 704	0.40	40,000,000	445	5.40(	4 000	4 50/	57.075
56	services	11,235	5.5%	280,701	8.1%	12,629,029	145	5.1%	1,933	4.5%	57,875
61	Educational services	3,189	1.6%	82,412	2.4%	3,305,656	67	2.4%	952	2.2%	41,882
62	Health care and social assistance	21,606	10.6%	478,490	13.7%	25,753,193	378	13.3%	9,143	21.4%	638,001
71	Arts, entertainment, and recreation	3,139	1.5%	66,686	1.9%	1,441,252	53	1.9%	1,552	3.6%	35,266
72	Accommodation and food services	18,419	9.0%	372,701	10.7%	5,909,440	208	7.3%	5,000	11.7%	84,979
81	Other services (except public administration)	22,584	11.1%	171,523	4.9%	6,810,131	255	9.0%	1,622	3.8%	57,095

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, County Business Patterns, 2020



### Gross Receipts by Category

Albemarle County's gross receipts broken down into individual categories provide another view of business activity in the County as depicted in Figures 62 - 70 below.

Total gross receipts exhibited an overall upward trend during CY2017 – CY2021, with slight decreases in CY2019 and CY2021. The categories that contributed to the dips in gross receipts in both CY2019 and CY2021 were contractors; repair, personal and business services; and all other categories; with research and development only contributing to the dip in CY2019 and wholesale only contributing to the dip in CY2021. Financial, real estate and professional services; rental and leasing; and retail sales made positive contributions to total gross receipts each year during the five-year period of CY2017 – CY2021. Total gross receipts in CY2022:Year-to-Date (YTD) as of August 10, 2022 (60% of the year) were already exceeding the total for CY2021 (Albemarle County Division of Finance and Budget; Figures 62-70).

Four categories together comprised 87% of total gross receipts in CY2021: retail sales (35%), contractors (21%), repair, personal and business services (19%), and finance, real estate and professional services (11%) (Albemarle County Division of Finance and Budget; Figures 62-70).



Figure 62. Total Annual Gross Receipts Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 - CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022

Source: Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget



# Figure 63. Annual Gross Receipts – Contractors, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 - CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022



Source: Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget

Figure 64. Annual Gross Receipts – Financial, Real Estate, Professional Services, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022



Source: Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget



Figure 65. Annual Gross Receipts – Rental by Owner, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022



Source: Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget

Figure 66. Annual Gross Receipts – Repair, Personal and Business Services, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022







# Figure 67. Annual Gross Receipts – Research and Development, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 – CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022



Source: Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget

Figure 68. Annual Gross Receipts – Retailers, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 - CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022



Source: Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget



Figure 69. Annual Gross Receipts – Wholesale - Other, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -CY2022:YTD as of August 10, 2022



Source: Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget

Figure 70. Annual Gross Receipts – All Other Categories, Albemarle County, Virginia, CY2017 -CY2022: YTD as of August 10, 2022



Source: Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget



# Key Takeaways from County Business Patterns, Gross Receipts by Category and the American Community Survey 2016-2020.

While the gross receipts categories in the Commonwealth of Virginia combine various 2-digit NAICS codes and therefore report in broader categories than the CBP, the two sources correspond regarding the overall profile of business activity in Albemarle County. In terms of payroll jobs, annual payroll, and gross receipts overall, key industries for Albemarle County include health care and other repair, personal and business services; retail trade; construction; and financial, real estate and other professional, technical, and scientific services.

As noted earlier this report, the ACS 5-year estimates for 2016-2020 also combined certain 2digit NAICS codes and reported the employment of county residents in broader categories. Again, there is overlap with the primary business categories for payroll jobs, annual payroll, and gross receipts. Based on the ACS 2-16-2020 data, the top five industries of employment for Albemarle County's civilian residents (16 and over) were: educational services, and health care and social assistance; professional, scientific, and management, and administrative and waste management services; arts, entertainment, and recreation, and accommodation and food services; retail trade; and finance and insurance, and real estate and rental and leasing.

#### Leisure and Hospitality Industry Spotlight

An additional spotlight on the leisure and hospitality industry is provided as requested by the County. For the purposes of this analysis, the term leisure and hospitality will be used to refer to the combination of two, 2-digit NAICS codes, namely arts, entertainment, and recreation; and accommodation and food services.

As a recap, the ACS 2016-2020 reported that 9.4% of Albemarle County's civilian residents (16 or over) were employed in the leisure and hospitality industry (arts, entertainment, and recreation, and accommodation and food services). In terms of payroll jobs, the leisure and hospital industry comprised 9.2% of the establishments in Albemarle County in 2020, 15.4% of total payroll jobs, and 5.46% of total annual payrolls, based on the CBP 2020 data. Also, the gross receipts of the leisure and hospitality industry is included in the third largest category of Albemarle County's gross receipts, repair, personal and business services, which as an overall category accounted for 19% of total gross receipts in the county in CY2021. Thus, the leisure and hospitality industry is a significant contributor of jobs for both county residents and the region, but not annual payroll, and is a significant component of the third largest gross receipt category for the County.

Tourism brings visitors that enjoy the arts, entertainment, recreation, accommodation, and food services in the community and infuses dollars into the economy without a concomitant commitment to provide a range of constituent services, thereby positively contributing to economic activity. The Virginia Tourism Corporation reports that as of August 2022, year-to-date lodging occupancy, average daily rate, revenue per available room, and room revenue were all greater than the same period last year in the Charlottesville, Virginia area (Virginia Tourism Corporation).



In terms of employees, labor market tightness has fueled a continued upward path in the average hourly earnings in the leisure and hospitality industry through August 2022 for both Virginia and the U.S. after dropping during the early months of the pandemic in 2020 (BLS, St. Louis Fed; Figure 71)..





Not seasonally adjusted

Looking forward, as noted earlier in the report, U.S. consumer spending significantly shifted to services in Spring 2022, including leisure and hospitality services, after two years of cloistered living with the pandemic. With rising interest rates, declining personal savings, and slowing consumer spending since Spring 2022, close monitoring is prudent for this and all industry sectors to detect emerging trends to facilitate agile analysis and adaptive action.

#### F. Economic Outlook for Albemarle County, Virginia

Albemarle County has a strong economy with a history of mostly solid economic and job growth, high real per capita personal income, low unemployment, strong hourly wages regionally, significant employment in relatively higher-income industries, and strong local business activity.

Also, this report has identified that Albemarle County's economic indicators have generally followed the overall patterns of the related state and national indicators, albeit sometimes at different levels. Thus, the national and state economic outlooks are relevant barometers in framing Albemarle County's economic outlook.

As noted in Sections IV.I. and V.E. above, the national and state economic outlooks anticipate an economic slowdown by late 2022 or early 2023, with significant headwinds and downside risks to the forecasts and wide bands of uncertainty. Thus, it is prudent to likewise expect an economic slowdown for the County in late 2022 or early 2023 with higher interest rates, continued inflation until tight monetary policy can dampen inflation, higher unemployment,



cooling consumer demand and spending, slower growth in real personal income, continued softness in the real estate market, and slower business activity due to higher interest rates and lower real consumer spending (inflation-adjusted). The timing of different potential economic impacts will vary with those business sectors more sensitive to interest rates and consumer activity likely exhibiting impacts sooner.

Given the rapidly changing environment, close monitoring to support early detection of changing circumstances and agile adjustment are recommended going forward. Additional overall recommendations based on the County's economic outlook and other findings are provided in Section VIII below.

# VII. Additional Community Factors for Albemarle County, Virginia

Beyond the economic analysis and outlook in the previous section, additional analysis is provided on community factors related to income and poverty, housing patterns and costs, and educational attainment based on the rich data released in the U.S. Census Bureau's most recent American Community Survey (ACS) 2016-2020. The examination of these additional community factors will highlight key characteristics and provide information to support effective policy analysis and decision-making for the community.

#### A. Income and Poverty

#### Household Income

As compared to Virginia, Albemarle County has a greater portion of high-income households (\$150,000 and above) and a lower portion of very low-income households (under \$15,000) than the state. Also note that the distribution of household incomes is not symmetrical and skews positive with values that are significantly higher than the rest of the data set, as reflected by the mean (average) household income (\$116,914) being significantly higher than the median household income (\$84,643) (Census; Table 7). (Since the mean (average) is influenced by positive or negative "outliers," observations significantly above or below the rest of the data set, the median is a more reliable measure of "central tendency.")

Regarding the components of household income, 77% of households in Albemarle County received earnings in 2016-2020, slightly behind the state's 80% rate, which can be expected given the County's proximity to a major university. In terms of benefits, the proportion of Albemarle County's households receiving Social Security income (32%) and retirement income (25%), were comparable to the state. However, the proportion of Albemarle County's households receiving Security Income (3%), cash public assistance (1%), and Food Stamps/SNAP benefits in the past 12 months (3%), were below the companion figures for the state (Census; Table 7).



Table 7. Household Income and Benefits 2016-2020:	U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle
County, Virginia (in 2020 dollars)	

	United	States	Virç	jinia	Albemarle Virgi	
	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent
Total households	122,354,219	122,354,219	3,184,121	3,184,121	42,381	42,381
Less than \$10,000	7,145,751	5.8%	151,739	4.8%	1,241	2.9%
\$10,000 to \$14,999	5,020,097	4.1%	103,516	3.3%	999	2.4%
\$15,000 to \$24,999	10,359,700	8.5%	221,834	7.0%	2,873	6.8%
\$25,000 to \$34,999	10,569,484	8.6%	227,036	7.1%	3,025	7.1%
\$35,000 to \$49,999	14,690,382	12.0%	342,619	10.8%	4,369	10.3%
\$50,000 to \$74,999	21,034,779	17.2%	518,677	16.3%	6,662	15.7%
\$75,000 to \$99,999	15,613,243	12.8%	411,580	12.9%	5,552	13.1%
\$100,000 to \$149,999	19,128,938	12.6%	548,694	17.2%	7,659	18.1%
\$150,000 to \$199,999	8,688,154	7.1%	287,495	9.0%	4,409	10.1%
\$200,000 or more Median household income	10,103,691	8.3%	370,931	11.6%	5,592	13.2%
(dollars)	64,994	(X)	76,398	(X)	84,643	(X)
Mean household income (dollars)	91,547	(X)	106,023	(X)	116,914	(X)
With earnings	95,088,085	77.7%	2,536,296	79.7%	32,493	76.7%
Mean earnings (dollars)	93,265	(X)	105,064	(X)	114,452	(X)
With Social Security	38,442,718	31.4%	958,506	30.1%	13,544	32.0%
Mean Social Security income (dollars)	20,126	(X)	20,533	(X)	23,213	(X)
With retirement income	25,872,444	21.1%	785,306	24.7%	10,718	25.3%
Mean retirement income (dollars)	28,376	(X)	35,306	(X)	34,016	(X)
With Supplemental						
Security Income	6,403,843	5.2%	135,199	4.2%	1,199	2.8%
Mean Supplemental Security Income (dollars)	10,115	(X)	9,823	(X)	10,559	(X)
With cash public	10,110	(//)	3,023	(//)	10,000	
assistance income	2,995,159	2.4%	62,122	2.0%	462	1.1%
Mean cash public assistance						
income (dollars)	3,271	(X)	3,044	(X)	3,319	(X)
With Food Stamp/SNAP benefits in the past 12						
months	13,892,407	11.4%	251,747	7.9%	1,263	3.0%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimates 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)



#### Poverty Rates and Trends

In 2016-2020, poverty rates in Albemarle County were significantly below the companion rates for Virginia and the U.S., both overall and in all sub-categories examined in the ACS 2016-2020 (Census; Table 8). Historically, the annual rate of change in the overall poverty rate was higher after the Great Financial Crisis in Albemarle County than in Virginia or the U.S. and trended back toward the annual rate of change for the state and nation during 2015-2020 (registering a slightly higher percent change during 2015-2020 with a lower base rate) (Figure 72).

Table 8. Percentage of Families Below the Poverty Level 2016-2020: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia

PERCENTAGE OF FAMILIES AND PEOPLE WHOSE INCOM	E IN THE F	PAST 12 M	ONTHS
IS BELOW THE POVERTY LEVEL 2016	6-2020		
	United States	Virginia	Albemarle County, Virginia
All families	9.1%	6.8%	3.6%
With related children of the householder under 18 years	14.3%	10.8%	6.2%
With related children of the householder under 5 years only	13.5%	10.1%	8.3%
Married couple families	4.6%	3.2%	1.7%
With related children of the householder under 18 years	6.2%	4.2%	3.1%
With related children of the householder under 5 years only	4.8%	3.4%	2.9%
Families with female householder, no spouse present	25.1%	21.5%	14.3%
With related children of the householder under 18 years	34.4%	30.3%	16.6%
With related children of the householder under 5 years only	38.8%	32.9%	24.6%
All people	12.8%	10.0%	7.7%
Under 18 years	17.5%	13.1%	9.2%
Related children of the householder under 18 years	17.2%	12.8%	9.0%
Related children of the householder under 5 years	19.1%	13.9%	13.6%
Related children of the householder 5 to 17 years	16.4%	12.4%	7.2%
18 years and over	11.5%	9.1%	7.3%
18 to 64 years	12.1%	9.5%	8.2%
65 years and over	9.3%	7.5%	4.5%
People in families	10.1%	7.3%	5.0%
Unrelated individuals 15 years and over	24.2%	21.3%	17.1%

Source: U. S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimate 2016-2020 in 2020 dollars



Final 9-28-22

Figure 72. Annual Changes in Poverty: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2000 – 2020



Not seasonally adjusted



## B. Housing Patterns and Costs

In this section, five features of housing patterns and costs are examined using the ACS 2016-2020 data.

Albemarle County had a higher proportion of occupied housing units (92%) as compared to the state and nation in 2016-2020, a lower proportion of vacant housing, and lower homeowner and rental vacancy rates as compared to the state and nation (Census; Table 9). Regarding housing tenure, Albemarle County had a slightly lower proportion of owner-occupied housing and slightly lower proportion of renter-occupied housing as compared to the state, again which can be expected given the County's proximity to a major university. Both housing tenure metrics compared favorably to the nation in 2016-2020 (Table 9).

Table 9: Housing Occupancy and Tenure: U.S., Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia 2016-2020

	HOUSING OCC	UPANCY AND 1	ENURE 2016	-2020		
	United	States	Virg	inia	Albemarle County, Virginia	
	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent
HOUSING OCCUPANCY						
Total housing units	138,432,751	138,432,751	3,537,788	3,537,788	46,235	46,235
Occupied housing units	122,354,219	88.4%	3,184,121	90.0%	42,381	91.7%
Vacant housing units	16,078,532	11.6%	353,667	10.0%	3,854	8.3%
Homeowner vacancy rate	1.4	(X)	1.3	(X)	0.4	(X)
Rental vacancy rate	5.8	(X)	5.4	(X)	4.5	(X)
HOUSING TENURE						
Occupied housing units	122,354,219	122,354,219	3,184,121	3,184,121	42,381	42,381
Owner-occupied	78,801,376	64.4%	2,123,771	66.7%	27,625	65.2%
Renter-occupied	43,552,843	35.6%	1,060,350	33.3%	14,756	34.8%
Average household size of owner-occupied unit	2.69	(X)	2.66	(X)	2.49	(X)
Average household size of renter-occupied unit	2.45	(X)	2.46	(X)	2.18	(X)

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimate 2016-2020



In 2016-2020, the median value of housing in Albemarle County (\$376,000) was significantly higher than that for the state (\$282,800), with a greater portion of its owner-occupied units being valued above \$300,000 as compared to the state. Also fewer of the owner-occupied units in Albemarle Count held mortgages (62%) as compared to the state (68%) (Census; Table 10).

Table 10. Housing Value: U.S., Virginia and Albemarle County, Virginia 2016-2020

н	HOUSING VALUE 2016-2020 (IN 2020 DOLLARS)									
	United	States	Virg	inia	Albemarle County, Virginia					
	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent	Estimat e	Percent				
Owner-occupied units	78,801,376	78,801,376	2,123,771	2,123,771	27,625	27,625				
Less than \$50,000	5,172,474	6.6%	89,149	4.2%	746	2.7%				
\$50,000 to \$99,999	8,698,428	11.0%	134,410	6.3%	279	1.0%				
\$100,000 to \$149,999	9,730,077	12.3%	192,396	9.1%	1,209	4.4%				
\$150,000 to \$199,999	10,727,302	13.6%	261,150	12.3%	2,112	7.6%				
\$200,000 to \$299,999	15,730,458	20.0%	459,324	21.6%	5,732	20.7%				
\$300,000 to \$499,999	16,173,336	20.5%	539,763	25.4%	9,046	32.7%				
\$500,000 to \$999,999	9,682,662	12.3%	382,830	18.0%	6,835	24.7%				
\$1,000,000 or more	2,886,639	3.7%	64,749	3.0%	1,666	6.0%				
Median (dollars)	229,800	(X)	282,800	(X)	376,000	(X)				
MORTGAGE STATUS										
Owner-occupied units	78,801,376	78,801,376	2,123,771	2,123,771	27,625	27,625				
Housing units with a										
mortgage	48,974,364	62.1%	1,448,673	68.2%	17,121	62.0%				
Housing units without a mortgage	29,827,012	37.9%	675,098	31.8%	10,504	38.0%				

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimate 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)



In 2016-2020, median selected monthly owner costs (SMOC) for housing units with a mortgage was \$1,875 in Albemarle County and the median SMOC was \$565 for those units without a mortgage, both slightly higher than the state and nation, based on the ACS 2016-2020 data (Census; Table 11).

HOUSING SELECTED	MONTHLY OV	VNER COSTS	(SMOC) 201	6-2020 (IN 2	020 DOLLA	RS)
	United States		Virg	jinia	Albemarle County, Virginia	
Label	Estimate	Estimate Percent		Estimate Percent		Percent
Housing units with a mortgage	48,974,364	48,974,364	1,448,673	1,448,673	17,121	17,121
Less than \$500	568,141	1.2%	16,459	1.1%	53	0.3%
\$500 to \$999	8,020,937	16.4%	172,745	11.9%	1,896	11.1%
\$1,000 to \$1,499	13,146,307	26.8%	330,707	22.8%	3,704	21.6%
\$1,500 to \$1,999	10,324,027	21.1%	305,949	21.1%	3,732	21.8%
\$2,000 to \$2,499	6,485,860	13.2%	222,122	15.3%	2,749	16.1%
\$2,500 to \$2,999	3,999,769	8.2%	154,586	10.7%	2,213	12.9%
\$3,000 or more	6,429,323	13.1%	246,105	17.0%	2,774	16.2%
Median (dollars)	1,621	(X)	1,822	(X)	1,875	(X)
Housing units without a mortgage	29,827,012	29,827,012	675,098	675,098	10,504	10,504
Less than \$250	3,317,647	11.1%	81,417	12.1%	543	5.2%
\$250 to \$399	6,680,713	22.4%	170,161	25.2%	1,967	18.7%
\$400 to \$599	8,428,059	28.3%	189,751	28.1%	3,323	31.6%
\$600 to \$799	5,014,006	16.8%	107,120	15.9%	2,164	20.6%
\$800 to \$999	2,660,659	8.9%	59,440	8.8%	925	8.8%
\$1,000 or more	3,725,928	12.5%	67,209	10.0%	1,582	15.1%
Median (dollars)	509	(X)	481	(X)	565	(X)

Table 11. Housing Selected Monthly Owner Costs (SMOC): U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimate 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)



In terms of the impact on household income, 30% is the threshold beyond which HUD defines a household as cost-burdened (HUD). Based on the ACS 2016-2020 data, 24% of Albemarle County's households with mortgages and 11% of its households in owner-occupied housing without mortgages exceeded the HUD 30% affordability threshold, both of which were lower than the related metrics for the state and nation (Census; Table 12).

Table 12. Housing Selected Monthly Owner Costs (SMOC) as a Percentage of Household Income: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)

HOUSING SELECTED MONTHLY OWNER COSTS AS A PERCENTAGE OF HOUSEHOLD INCOME (SMOCAPI) 2016-2020 (IN 2020 DOLLARS)									
	United	United States		jinia	Albemarle County, Virginia				
	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent			
Housing units with a mortgage (excluding units where SMOCAPI cannot be computed)	48,744,731	48,744,731	1,443,066	1,443,066	17,045	17,045			
Less than 20.0 percent	22,762,635	46.7%	680,359	47.1%	8,903	52.2%			
20.0 to 24.9 percent	7,593,802	15.6%	239,501	16.6%	2,676	15.7%			
25.0 to 29.9 percent	5,044,205	10.3%	155,882	10.8%	1,433	8.4%			
30.0 to 34.9 percent	3,314,853	6.8%	101,093	7.0%	1,251	7.3%			
35.0 percent or more	10,029,236	20.6%	266,231	18.4%	2,782	16.3%			
Not computed	229,633	(X)	5,607	(X)	76	(X)			
Housing unit without a mortgage (excluding units where SMOCAPI cannot be computed)	29,428,138	29,428,138	667,824	667,824	10,471	10,471			
Less than 10.0 percent	13,449,955	45.7%	348,688	52.2%	5,777	55.2%			
10.0 to 14.9 percent	5,686,876	19.3%	124,732	18.7%	1,647	15.7%			
15.0 to 19.9 percent	3,208,798	10.9%	65,427	9.8%	999	9.5%			
20.0 to 24.9 percent	1,935,622	6.6%	38,057	5.7%	511	4.9%			
25.0 to 29.9 percent	1,248,280	4.2%	23,632	3.5%	349	3.3%			
30.0 to 34.9 percent	834,409	2.8%	15,701	2.4%	235	2.2%			
35.0 percent or more	3,064,198	10.4%	51,587	7.7%	953	9.1%			
Not computed	398,874	(X)	7,274	(X)	33	(X)			

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimate 2016-2020



The median gross rent for occupied rental housing was \$1,349 in Albemarle County in 2016-2020, higher than the companion figures for the state (\$1,257) and nation (\$1,096). Based on the ACS 2016-2020 data, 48% of renting households in Albemarle County exceeded the HUD 30% affordability threshold, as compared to 47% for the state and 49% for the nation (Census; Table 13).

Table 13. Gross Rent and Gross Rent as a Percentage of Household Income: U.S., Virginia, and Albemarle County, Virginia, 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)

GROSS RENT AND GROSS RENT AS A PERCENTAGE OF HOUSEHOLD INCOME (GRAPI) 2016-2020 (IN 2020 DOLLARS)						
	United States		Virginia		Albemarle County, Virginia	
Label	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent
GROSS RENT				I		
Occupied units paying rent	41,390,514	41,390,514	1,005,498	1,005,498	13,660	13,660
Less than \$500	3,679,331	8.9%	71,678	7.1%	297	2.2%
\$500 to \$999	14,206,622	34.3%	261,701	26.0%	2,167	15.9%
\$1,000 to \$1,499	12,515,982	30.2%	302,400	30.1%	6,163	45.1%
\$1,500 to \$1,999	6,187,736	14.9%	209,112	20.8%	3,570	26.1%
\$2,000 to \$2,499	2,558,549	6.2%	92,383	9.2%	908	6.6%
\$2,500 to \$2,999	1,088,264	2.6%	37,000	3.7%	319	2.3%
\$3,000 or more	1,154,030	2.8%	31,224	3.1%	236	1.7%
Median (dollars)	1,096	(X)	1,257	(X)	1,349	(X)
No rent paid	2,162,329	(X)	54,852	(X)	1,096	(X)
GROSS RENT AS A PERCENTAGE OF HOUSEHOLD INCOME (GRAPI)						
Occupied units paying rent (excluding units where GRAPI cannot be computed)	40,484,226	40,484,226	986,357	986,357	13,414	13,414
Less than 15.0 percent	5,405,002	13.4%	128,963	13.1%	2,100	15.7%
15.0 to 19.9 percent	5,254,304	13.0%	136,725	13.9%	2,274	17.0%
20.0 to 24.9 percent	5,227,400	12.9%	136,906	13.9%	1,614	12.0%
25.0 to 29.9 percent	4,711,468	11.6%	119,332	12.1%	971	7.2%
30.0 to 34.9 percent	3,679,430	9.1%	90,156	9.1%	1,179	8.8%
35.0 percent or more	16,206,622	40.0%	374,275	37.9%	5,276	39.3%
Not computed	3,068,617	(X)	73,993	(X)	1,342	(X)

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimate 2016-2020 (in 2020 dollars)


#### C. Educational Attainment

Regarding educational attainment, the proportion of Albemarle County's residents 25 years and over holding bachelor's (30%) and graduate or professional degrees (28%) significantly exceeded the companion figures for the state and nation in 2016-2020. As a result, 59% of Albemarle County residents 25 years an over held a bachelor's degree or higher as compared to 40% for Virginia and 33% for the U.S. in 2016-2020 (Census; Table 14).

Table 14.	Educational	Attainment 201	16-2020: L	J.S.,	Virginia,	and Albemarle	e County,
Virginia							

EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT 2016-2020							
	United States		Virg	inia	Albemarle County, Virginia		
	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent	Estimate	Percent	
Total households	122,354,219	122,354,219	3,184,121	3,184,121	42,381	42,381	
Population 25 years and over	222,836,834	222,836,834	5,831,949	5,831,949	73,818	73,818	
Less than 9th grade	10,923,030	4.9%	226,926	3.9%	2,098	2.8%	
9th to 12th grade, no diploma	14,639,650	6.6%	336,675	5.8%	3,314	4.5%	
High school graduate (includes equivalency)	59,421,419	26.7%	1,392,823	23.9%	10,736	14.5%	
Some college, no degree	45,242,162	20.3%	1,111,802	19.1%	10,692	14.5%	
Associate's degree	19,254,254	8.6%	459,233	7.9%	3,618	4.9%	
Bachelor's degree	45,034,610	20.2%	1,304,079	22.4%	22,495	30.5%	
Graduate or professional degree	28,321,709	12.7%	1,000,411	17.2%	20,865	28.3%	
High school graduate or higher	197,274,154	88.5%	5,268,348	90.3%	68,406	92.7%	
Bachelor's degree or higher	73,356,319	32.9%	2,304,490	39.5%	43,360	58.7%	

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-year estimate 2016-2020



#### **VIII. Conclusions and Recommendations**

This report outlined the current intricate and unique economic circumstances globally and in the U.S. that provide the framework for assessing the economic conditions for Albemarle County and the Commonwealth of Virginia. Despite U.S. real GDP declining two consecutive quarters in early 2022, the U.S. economy had not entered a recession as of the first half of 2022, yet current economic indicators are mixed at this writing with slowing activity in some sectors along with resiliency in other sectors, including a continued strong job market. Inflation currently remains at record highs and the Federal Reserve has consistently raised the federal funds rate since early 2022 with a stated commitment to continuing rate increases to do what it takes to dampen inflation.

Based on growing signals, an economic slowdown appears likely to be unfolding in the U.S. and globally, with an anticipated arrival by late 2022 or early 2023. There are several headwinds and downside risks to economic forecasts with wide bands of uncertainty regarding inflation, interest rates, the housing market, declining real personal income, cooling consumer and business demand, continuing supply challenges, shifting trade flows, and continued geopolitical risks and impacts (such as supply and price shocks). The evolving circumstances and wide bands of uncertainty have led to repeated revisions (downward) to economic forecasts thus far in 2022 with more revisions expected.

With the accumulating signals of a likely economic slowdown in the U.S., state, and globally, it is prudent for Albemarle County to likewise anticipate an economic cooling given its history of generally following state and national economic trends, albeit sometimes at different levels.

Albemarle County has a strong economy with a history of mostly solid economic and job growth, high real per capita personal income, low unemployment, strong hourly wages regionally, significant employment in relatively higher-income industries, and strong local business activity. This overall solid economic base provides more scope within which to effectively plan and act defensively as compared to many other communities that face major, chronic economic issues.

To facilitate continued financial resiliency and agility in the face of the rapidly changing environment, this writer's enduring organizational recommendations include:

- Detailed assessment of the organization's financial foundation, including strengths, weaknesses, and vulnerabilities.
- Clearly-defined and refined strategic goals.
- Long-run financial planning and robust scenario planning to illuminate potential chokepoints and develop shopping lists of potential response options.
- Continued close monitoring to detect early warning signals and emerging trends.
- Staff engagement to advance early detection, scenario planning, and response.
- Adaptive decision-making practices and augmented communication.
- Agility in action.



Based on the economic and community factors review of Albemarle County, this report also identified some areas for additional consideration during policy reviews, including:

- Slower job recovery in the County as compared to the state during economic downturns (i.e., during the Great Financial Crisis and the pandemic).
- The narrowing distance between the County's and the state's unemployment rates, while noting that Albemarle County's unemployment rate remained slightly lower as of July 2022.
- Changes in hourly wages locally and as compared to surrounding MSAs.
- Higher growth in the County's poverty rate as compared to the state and nation during 2015-2020, albeit with a lower base rate.
- Housing affordability given the notably higher median price of homes in the County.
- Housing cost-burden for 48% of renters of occupied units, 24% of owner-occupied units with a mortgage, and 11% of owner-occupied units without a mortgage in 2016-2020, according to the U.S. Census ACS (notwithstanding the County's lower proportions of cost-burdened owner-occupied housing as compared to the state and nation).
- The County's labor force participation rate given the off trend drop in 2017-2018 according to the BLS, and the lower rate compared to the state in 2016-2020 according to the U.S. Census ACS.
- The portion of the County's population that is not included in official employment, unemployment, and labor force data (are they marginally attached to the labor force, disabled, retired, in school, or out of the labor force for other reasons).
- Differential impacts of a potential economic slowdown across industries in the county, especially those with lower hourly wages and/or sensitive to interest rates or consumer spending changes (e.g., retail trade and construction given their significant roles in the County's economy in terms of jobs, annual payroll, and business activity (gross receipts)).
- Housing market trends for potential softening in home prices and valuation.

Albemarle County's prudent financial management and overall solid economic base provide a foundation and community capacity for strategic initiatives. Many other communities struggle with strategic initiatives because their economic foundations are not solid and repeatedly require significant organizational resources to maintain effective operations.

As always is the case, we "have to run hard to break even and run even harder to get ahead." Thus, the County's strategic and methodical analysis, review, and policymaking are commended and will continue to advance the community toward its strategic objectives.



#### IX. References

- Albemarle County, Virginia, Division of Finance and Budget (2022). Gross receipts CY2017 - CY2022 (year to date August 10, 2022).
- Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (2022, August). *Federal Reserve Statistical Release: Industrial production and capacity utilization.*
- Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (2022, September 21). *Decisions Regarding Monetary Policy*.
- Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (2022, September 21). *Federal Reserve Press Release: Federal Open Market Committee*.
- Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (2022, September 21). *Summary of Economic Projections.*
- Charlottesville Area Association of Realtors (2022, July). *Charlottesville area market indicators report.*
- Chetty, R., Friedman, J., Hendren, N., Stepner, J. and the Opportunity Insights Team (2020, November). *The economic impacts of COVID-19: Evidence from a new public database built using private sector data*. NBER Working Paper No. 26463.
- Conference Board (2022, April 13). *Economy watch: The U.S. housing market in 2022 and beyond.*
- Conference Board (2022, March). *What if Russia, Ukraine grain trade halts: Mapping economies poised to feed the world.*
- Conference Board (2022, August and September). *Global Economic Outlook*.
- Conference Board (2022, September 14). *Economy watch: Is Europe on cusp of a recession?*
- Edwards, Zach (2022, September 1). *Are recession fears replacing supply chain challenges? Evidence from Fifth District business surveys.* Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond.
- Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond (2022, June 29). *CFO survey: Economic outlook for 2022 deteriorates.*
- Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond (2022, August). *Hornstein-Kudlyak-Lange Non-Employment Index*.
- Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond (2022, September). Virginia Snapshot.
- Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond (2022, September 23). *Regional Matters: Lagging Labor Force Participation in Maryland and Virginia.*
- Federal Reserve Economic Data (FRED) System Interactive Database, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis.
- Fitch Ratings (2022, August 23). Demand erosion a growing risk for us corporate forecasts.
- Fitch Ratings (2022, August 31). World GDP fell while inflation rose even further in 2Q22.
- Fitch Ratings (2022, September 14). Fitch Ratings Slashes Global GDP Forecasts on Supply Shocks, Faster Rate Rises.
- Institute for Supply Management (2022, August). *Report on Business: Manufacturing PMI at 52.8%*.
- Institute for Supply Management (2022, August). *Report on Business: Services PMI at 56.9%.*
- Moody's Analytics (2022, August 4). Handicapping the economic outlook.
- Moody's Analytics (2022, September 1). Rising rates won't bring golden age of banking.



- Moody's Analytics (2022, September 15). Change is blowing in the wind.
- Moody's Analytics (2022, September 22). No Clipping Hawks' Wings
- National Bureau of Economic Research (n.d.). *Business cycle dating*. <u>https://www.nber.org/research/business-cycle-dating</u>
- National Association for Business Economics (2022, January, April and July). *Business conditions survey*
- National Association for Business Economics (2022, February, May and August). *NABE outlook survey*.
- National Association for Business Economics (2022, March and August). *Economic policy survey*.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (n.d.). *Composite leading indicators (CLI): Frequently asked questions (FAQs).*
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2021, March). Business & consumer tendency surveys: OECD glossary.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2022, June). *Economic Outlook Volume 2022, Issue 1.*
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2022, June). *OECD Economic reveals heavy global price of Russia's war against Ukraine.*
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2022, August). *OECD Composite leading indicators: Turning points of reference series and component series.*
- Rapier, R. (2022, July 25). U.S. natural gas production set a new record in 2021. Forbes.
- S&P Global (2022, June 27). Economic Outlook U.S. Q3 2022: The Summer of Our Discontent.
- S&P Global (2022, August 2). Economic research: U.S. recession--are we there yet?
- S&P Global (2022, August 12). *Economic research: U.S. real-time data/ prices are cooling on weakening demand*
- S&P Global (2022, September 1). *Economic Research: U.S. business cycle barometer: As weakness continues, further spread would mean recession*
- S&P Global (2022, September 15). *Reshuffling capital and trade flows are redefining markets*
- Swonk, Diane (2022, September). *Longing for "yesterday": Federal Reserve abandons hope of a soft landing.* KPMG Economics.
- University of Michigan LSA Research Seminar in Quantitative Economics (2022, February, May and August). *The U.S. economic outlook.*
- University of Michigan (2022, January August). Surveys of Consumers.
- U.S. Bureau of Economic Research (2022, January August). *Gross domestic product and corporate profit reports*.
- U.S. Bureau of Economic Research (2022, June 30). *Gross domestic product by state*, 1<sup>st</sup> quarter 2022.
- U.S. Bureau of Economic Research (2021, December 8). *Gross domestic product by county, 2020.*
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2022, January August 2022). The employment situation.
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2022, June and July). Job Openings and Labor Turnover



- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2022, June and July). *Job Openings and Labor Turnover in States*
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2022, July and August). *Producer price indexes.*
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2022, July and August). *State employment and Unemployment.*
- U.S. Census Bureau (n.d.). American Community Survey 2016-2020 Interactive Database
- U.S. Census Bureau (n.d.). County Business Patterns 2020 Interactive Database
- U.S. Census Bureau (n.d.). *County Business Patterns: About this Program*. <u>https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/cbp/about.html</u>
- U.S. Census Bureau (n.d.). Delineation Files: Core based statistical areas (CBSAs), metropolitan divisions, and combined statistical areas (CSAs). <u>https://www.census.gov/geographies/reference-files/time-series/demo/metro-micro/delineation-files.html</u>
- U.S. Census Bureau (n.d.). Housing vacancies & homeownership definitions. https://www.census.gov/housing/hvs/definitions.pdf
- U.S. Census Bureau (2022, June and July). *Monthly advance report on durable goods manufacturers' shipments, inventories and orders.*
- U.S. Census Bureau (2022, June and July). Monthly Construction Spending
- U.S. Census Bureau (2022, July). Monthly full report on manufacturers' shipments, inventories and orders.
- U.S. Census Bureau (2022, July and August). Monthly New Residential Construction.
- U.S. Census Bureau (2022, July and August). *Advance monthly sales for retail and food services*.
- U.S. Census Bureau (2020, September). Understanding and Using American Community Survey Data: What All Data Users Need to Know. U.S. Government Publishing Office, Washington, DC, 2020.
- U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (2022, June and July). *Housing market indicators monthly update.*
- U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (n.d.). Rental Burdens: Rethinking Affordability Measures. https://www.huduser.gov/portal/pdredge/pdr\_edge\_featd\_article\_092214.html
- U.S. Energy Information Administration (n.d.). *FAQs: What countries are the top producers and consumers of oil.*
- U.S. Federal Housing Finance Agency (2022, August 30). *House Price Index (HPI) Quarterly Report 2022Q2 & June 2022.*
- U.S. Federal Housing Finance Agency (n.d.). *House Price Index (HPI) FAQs.* <u>https://www.fhfa.gov/Media/PublicAffairs/Pages/House-Price-Index-Frequently-Asked-Questions.aspx</u>
- Virginia Association of Realtors (2021, December). Monthly home sales 2016 present.
- Virginia Association of Realtors (2022, January August). Virginia home sales report.
- Virginia Association of Realtors (2022, January, February, March, May). *County and city housing market data.*
- Virginia Employment Commission (n.d.). Local Area Unemployment (LAUS) Interative Database.



- Virginia Employment Commission (2019 2021). *Labor force participation rates (by county and city).*
- Virginia Tourism Corporation (2022, July and August). Lodging reports.
- Wells Fargo Economics (2022, August 23). International Economic Outlook: August 2022
- Wells Fargo Economics (2022, September 9). U.S. Economic Outlook: September 2022
- World Bank (2022, June). Global economic prospects.



#### X. Appendix

 Table 15.
 Selected Virginia Statistical Area Delineations, 2020

Selected Virginia Statistical Areas 2020				
CBSA/MSA Title*	Counties and Cities			
Charlottesville, Virginia	Albemarle County, Fluvanna County, Greene County, Nelson County, Charlottesville City			
Staunton, Virginia	Augusta County, Staunton City, Waynesboro City,			
Harrisonburg, Virginia	Rockingham County, Harrisonburg City			
Richmond, Virginia	Amelia County, Charles City County, Chesterfield County, Dinwiddie County, Goochland County, Hanover County, Henrico County, King and Queen County, King William County, New Kent County, Powhatan County, Prince George County, Sussex County, Colonial Heights City, Hopewell City, Petersburg City, Richmond City			

Source: U.S. Census Bureau; \*U.S. Census defines CBSA as the Core-Based Statistical Area and MSA as the Metropolitan Statistical Area which are the same for the selected statistical areas.

Figure 73. House Price Index (Single Family): Albemarle County, Virginia, and Charlottesville, Virginia MSA, 2000 - 2021





# Five-Year Financial Plan Work Session, November 2, 2022



#### Albemarle County

#### Legislation Details (With Text)

File #:	22-464	Version: 1	Name:			
Туре:	Policy		Status:	Work Session		
File created:	10/11/2022		In control:	Board of Supervisors		
On agenda:	11/2/2022		Final action:			
Title:	Five-Year Financial Plan Work Session.					
Sponsors:						
Indexes:						
Code sections:						
Attachments:						
Date	Ver. Action B	/	Act	ion	Result	

#### AGENDA DATE: 11/2/2022

#### TITLE:

Five-Year Financial Plan Work Session

**SUBJECT/PROPOSAL/REQUEST:** Work session on five-year financial plan

**ITEM TYPE:** Regular Information Item

**STAFF CONTACT(S):** Richardson, Birch, Bowman, Vinzant

PRESENTER (S): Bowman

**LEGAL REVIEW:** Not Required

#### **REVIEWED BY: Jeffrey B. Richardson**

**BACKGROUND:** Long-range financial planning is part of the County's adopted financial policies: "The County will develop and annually update a long-range five-year Financial Plan. The Financial Plan will include a review of revenue trends and expenditures from the prior years' projections of revenues and expenditures, as well as future costs and the financing of the Capital Improvement Plan."

A long-range financial plan is different from the annual budget in that it emphasizes where the County may be headed at the end of the plan rather than the coming fiscal year. This planning can provide a helpful framework to inform the annual budget to ensure funding recommendations are aligned with County priorities. It also provides a framework to illuminate discussion around questions such as:

a) Are the County's operating and capital plans in alignment? For example, if the County starts constructing a new facility in the capital budget, is it able to open and operate it in a future operating budget - can the decisions being made today be afforded in future years?

b) What long-term strategies or policies could be considered to change the long-term trajectory of the financial plan?

The Five-Year Financial Plan is the next step in the County's long-term financial planning process, where to date:

On August 24, 2022, the Board held a Strategic Planning Retreat for Fiscal Years 2024 - 2028 (FY 24 - 28).
 On September 7, the Board updated the County's Financial Management Policies and approved a FY 24 budget calendar

- On September 21, the Board held a work session on the FY 24 - 28 Strategic Plan Draft

- On October 5, the Board received an Economic Outlook Report presented by Dr. Sheryl Bailey, Visiting Professor of Practice, Virginia Tech

- On October 19, the Board adopted the FY 24 - 28 Strategic Plan goals and objectives.

Next, in accordance with the budget development schedule, the Board of Supervisors will hold a series of work sessions in the fall to review long-range financial planning information prior to the annual budget process. The work sessions are scheduled for November 2, December 7 (a joint meeting with the School Board), and December 14.

**STRATEGIC PLAN:** Mission - To enhance the well-being and quality of life for all community members through the provision of the highest level of public service consistent with the prudent use of public funds.

**DISCUSSION:** During this work session, staff will present initial revenue and expenditure assumptions, which have been developed using the best information available at that time. These assumptions will continue to be updated in the annual budget development process and subsequent financial plans. Staff will also share the proposed financial plan's alignment with the Strategic Plan and seek Board feedback on the financial plan.

**BUDGET IMPACT:** Long-range financial planning connects long-range fiscal planning with strategic priorities and provides an important context for the annual budget process.

#### **RECOMMENDATION:**

Staff recommends that the Board share feedback on the initial long-range Five-Year Financial Plan.

#### ATTACHMENTS: None



### Five-Year Financial Plan

November 2, 2022



### Timeline

- Aug 24Strategic Planning Retreat for FY 24 28
- Sept 7 Financial Management Policies update
- Sept 21 FY 24 28 Strategic Plan work session
- Oct 5 Economic Outlook Report presented by Dr. Sheryl Bailey
- Oct 19 FY 24 28 Strategic Plan goals and objectives adopted
- Nov 2 Five-Year Financial Plan work session
- Dec 7 Five-Year Financial Plan work session, with School Board
- Dec 14 Five-Year Financial Plan work session
- Feb May FY 24 annual budget process



### **Desired Outcomes**

No Board action is requested today

Inform the Board of Supervisors on long-range planning assumptions and the proposed plan's alignment with the Strategic Plan

Board of Supervisors provide initial feedback to financial plan



# Introduction: Long-range Financial Planning

Part of County's adopted Financial Management Policies

Consideration for:

- Impacts of both the operating and capital budgets
- Long-term strategy or policy discussions to shape the future

Framework for annual budget development processes

Assumptions based on best information available *as of today* 





- 1. Review of revenue and expenditure assumptions and alignment with Strategic Plan
- 2. Scenarios for Consideration
- 3. Board discussion: Responses to plan & assumptions
  - What does the plan do well?
  - What may be missing?
  - What areas require additional information?



### Five-Year Projection: General Fund Revenues (in millions)





### Recap: Oct 5 Economic Outlook Report

- Albemarle's Economy:
  - Strong
  - Economic indicators generally follow state & national trends
- "...prudent for Albemarle County to also anticipate an economic cooling with the accumulating signals of a likely economic slowdown in the U.S., state, and globally."

#### General Fund Revenue Changes, FY 07 – 22



#### General Fund Revenue Changes, FY 07 – 22 + FY 23-27 Projection





# **Expenditure** Assumptions





### Five-Year Revenues & Expenditures



Provides funding to Capital & Debt and School operations based on allocation of local tax revenue formula



# Goal 1: Safety & Well-Being

Support community safety through highly responsive services. Enhance and develop human services initiatives to assist community in accessing existing resources.

Develop County wide public safety long range plan to include emergency preparedness and response

**Recent New Funding** 

• Human Services Alternative Response Team (HART)

New Funding for Core Services

- Fire Rescue system FEMA SAFER grants
- Regional Jail Renovation (Operating Expense)
- Operating impacts of Court Facilities Renovation



# Goal 2: Resilient, Equitable & Engaged Community

Develop tools for integrating climate action and equity into programs and services.

#### Implement the Climate Action Plan.

- Recent New Funding
  - One-time Climate Action Pool to fund implementation
  - Re-prioritized vacant position to focus on implementation
  - Implement energy audit recommendations through existing CIP

*Related*: Southern and Northern Convenience Centers



# Goal 2: Resilient, Equitable & Engaged Community

Foster community partnerships and engagement around county priorities.

- Recent New Funding
  - Community engagement positions (3-year temporary)

#### Implement stream health initiatives.

- Recent New Funding
  - Stream Health: Contractual support in FY 23

Identify and mitigate community risk while building, sustaining, and validating the community's capability to respond to and recover from disasters and other natural threats.



# Goal 3: Infrastructure & Placemaking

Deploy countywide communications through Broadband programming

- Recent New Funding for Broadband initiatives:
  - 2 active awarded and 1 pending application for Virginia Telecommunications Initiative (VATI) grants
  - Ongoing Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) to address affordability

Ensure that long range water and wastewater plans are in alignment with our development goals by partnering with Rivanna Water Sewer Authority and the Albemarle County Service Authority.



# Goal 3: Infrastructure & Placemaking

Determine the level and extent of services necessary to create a public works department for enhanced maintenance of public rights of way and other infrastructure of public use.

#### **Recent New Funding**

- Mid-year FY 23:
  - Street Sweeper operations
  - Entrance Corridor / Right of Way Programming
  - Property Maintenance Inspector & Blight Remediation
- One-time funding for Sewer Connection Program

#### Implement long-range plans to embrace multimodal connectivity Recent New Funding

- Transportation Leveraging Program Funding New Funding in out years of plan
- Transit impacts of existing service and micro-transit



# Goal 4: Quality of Life

Develop AC44 Comprehensive Plan updates and Zoning modernization. Recent New Funding

• Development of AC44 Comprehensive Plan

### Update Project Enable to include County's role in Economic Development.

**Recent New Funding** 

- One-time Economic Development Fund & P3 Capital Funding
- Library Avenue & The Square

New Funding in out years of plan

• Ongoing funds for Economic Development Fund



# Goal 4: Quality of Life

Implement Housing Albemarle.

**Recent New Funding** 

- One-time Housing Fund and ARPA programs funded from it since April 2022
- \$1 million Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) related to Southwood

New Funding in out years of plan

• Ongoing funds for Housing Fund



# Goal 4: Quality of Life

Integrate parks planning with multi-modal transportation planning across the County.

Enhance overall access to parks and recreational opportunities with an emphasis on urban neighborhoods.

**Recent New Funding** 

- Biscuit Run & Moore's Creek Trailhead
- RAISE Grant for shared use path planning for Three Notch'd Trail



# Goal 5: Education & Learning

Collaborate and provide support for the Albemarle County Public Schools Strategic Plan.

Foster partnerships with CATEC, PVCC and UVA to advance our workforce pipeline, economic development, and affordable housing goals.

December 7 meeting with School Board

Funds School operations based on allocation of local tax revenue formula

Included in Adopted FY 23-27 CIP for Public Schools:

- Mountain View Expansion & Site Improvements
- High School Capacity Project
- Two Elementary Schools (Construction for latter intended in FY 28, year 5 of the FY 24-28 CIP)
- School Renovations



#### Goal 6: Workforce & Customer Service

Implement a total compensation structure that makes us highly competitive compared to other employers.

Implement a comprehensive staff development and wellness program to retain highly qualified staff

- Continue costs approved during FY 23
  - Full year of positions funded partial year in FY 23
  - Public safety pay increases
- Market (salary) and Healthcare Fund increases in FY 24 28
- Implementing Classification & Compensation Study
- 12 new positions each year in FY 26-FY 28 to maintain staffing ratio
  - e.g. positions/services that can't easily be re-engineered



### Goal 6: Workforce & Customer Service

Modernize business processes and technology to transform customer service demands.

Current & New Funding:

Core Systems Modernization

Implement office space planning and strategies with a focus on improved customer service, efficiency, and employee wellness.

**Recent New Funding** 

- Schroeder's Branch Feasibility Study Underway
- Public Safety Operations Center



# Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) Assumptions & Approach

- 1. Starting point is the balanced FY 23 27 Adopted Plan
  - Anticipated construction of a 3<sup>rd</sup> school beginning in FY 28
- 2. Work to maintain current plan given updated realities:
  - a) Increasing project costs
  - b) Project timing given supply chain and raw materials availability
  - c) Increasing borrowing costs in new interest rate environment
- 3. Use the Adopted Strategic Plan to identify uses of the "Strategic Plan Placeholder" included in the FY 23-27 CIP
  - For example, could include pocket park, rectangular fields, economic development
- 4. To extent possible, include new projects guided by the Strategic Plan



### Scenarios

•Assumptions based on best information available as of today

•Notable unknowns, examples:

- Timing, depth, and duration of any economic slowdown
- Inflation and energy prices
- Real estate and personal property reassessments
- Impacts of future federal funding
- Revenue Sharing with the City of Charlottesville calculation
- Virginia Retirement System rates



### Scenarios: +/- 0.5% revenue growth, in millions





# Discussion

Responses to plan & assumptions

- What does the plan do well?
- What may be missing?
- What areas require additional information?